Light Configuration in Algal Photobioreactor for Wastewater Treatment

Margot Amitrano Elizabeth Filine

> McGill University Fall 2018

Table of Contents

Abstract	4
1.0 Introduction	4
1.1 Vision Statement	6
2.0 Customer Needs Assessment	6
3.0 Revised Needs Statement and Target Specifications	8
3.1 Client Recommendations	8
3.2 Minimum Design Standards	9
3.3 Performance Indicators	9
4.0 External Search	11
4.1 Literature Review	11
4.1.1. Photobioreactor Designs	11
4.1.2. Light Characteristics and Requirements	13
4.2 Benchmarking	15
4.2.1. Commercial Designs	15
5.0 Concept Generation and Selection	16
5.1 Design Options and Selection	16
5.2 Lighting System	18
5.3 Outer Structure	20
5.4 System Dimensions	21
5.5 Carbon Dioxide Delivery	22
5.6 Gas Exhaust	24
6.0 Design Modelling and Performance Predictions	25
6.1 Design Assumptions	26
6.2 Description of Model	28
6.2.1. Algal Reproduction and Growth Dynamics	28
6.2.2. Time Definition	29
6.2.3. Light Evolution	30
6.2.4. Preliminary Mixing Study	31
6.3 Design Model Results	32

6.3.1. Simulation Output	32
6.3.2. Biomass Production	32
6.3.3. Nutrient Removal	33
6.4 Analysis of Design Output	34
6.4.1. Evolution of Design Factors	34
6.4.2. Scale-Up Considerations	35
6.4.3. Design Limitations	36
6.5 Refinement of Preliminary Design	38
6.5.1. Light Gradient Design	38
6.5.2. Sparge Velocity and Reactor Dimensions	41
7.0 Final Design	42
7.1 Manufacturability and Economic Analysis	42
7.1.1. Functional Description of Reactor Subcomponents	42
7.1.2. Control System Considerations	43
7.1.3. Economic Analysis of Design Implementation	44
7.2 Design Validation	45
7.2.1. Final Design Risk Assessment: Usability and Safety	45
7.2.2. Final Design Life Cycle Analysis (LCA) Considerations	47
8.0 Conclusion	50
9.0 References	52
Appendices	60

Abstract

A photobioreactor design for lab-scale algal growth and wastewater treatment is presented. The aim of the project is to provide researchers with an easy-to-use algal photobioreactor which efficiently removes nutrients found in tertiary streams of wastewater. It is expected that the design can be used for biomass production, harvest and post-production research, and wastewater treatment studies. Lighting is currently one of the major drawbacks of bioreactor efficiency; therefore, this system strives to improve the lighting configuration of the photobioreactor to enhance biomass productivity. The conceptual system was tested using a series of computational models to understand the reactor's parameters and their effects on reactor efficiency. In comparison with existing research, this design is predicted to be efficient at nutrient removal, but its biomass production is limited and does not reach that of existing designs. It is also expected to be a more affordable system, when compared to other lab-scale equipment, especially when considering manufacturing costs. A preliminary analysis of environmental impacts of the design was conducted to determine impact categories for the life of the system. A discussion of recommendations is included to specify improvements, limitations and implementation of the proposed system.

Introduction

The Macdonald campus of McGill University is home to the faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, where undergraduate and graduate-level degree programs are offered in fields of study relating to agricultural, nutritional, environmental and sustainable sciences. The department of Bioresource Engineering is located on this campus and encompasses an array of engineering disciplines. Bhalamurugan Loganathan is a graduate student pursuing his Ph.D. in Bioresource Engineering with a focus on the valorization of wastewater. Our team approached Mr. Loganathan with the idea of working on a design project focusing on the decontamination of wastewater through the use of algal photobioreactors. Mr. Loganathan found the idea of a capstone project, which focuses on similar work as his graduate project, appealing, and he became involved as the project's representative client.

As our team's client, Mr. Loganathan provided us with information to help guide this project from the start. He also provided us with some technical information required for this project. He explained that his research work involved the algal strain *Scenedesmus obliquus*, and that most research laboratories typically work with this strain since there is already a strong knowledge base for its properties in the literature. He also pointed out the need, in the photobioreactor industry, for a system which can homogenize the algal growth solution so that the cells receive an even distribution of light. Lack of sufficient lighting and photoinhibition are currently part of the main issues with photobioreactors because the microalgae tend to grow closer to the light source. This can form a biofilm, which then leads to the death of the cells inside that are no longer receiving light. This can lead to clogging of the instrument, as the algae grow only in the area of the light source.

With Mr. Loganathan's help, our team was able to clearly define a need, and from it, a project proposal that aims to improve the light configuration efficiency in photobioreactors.

Currently, 80% of wastewater is globally being released into the environment without receiving any prior treatment (UN Water, 2018; UN Water, 2017). In high income countries, 30% of the wastewater is not treated before discharge (UN Water, 2017). Still, the treatment this wastewater receives can sometimes be insufficient. This leads to harmful contaminants entering ecosystems, which can be fatal to the present wildlife. One of the extreme consequences of contaminated water being released to an ecosystem is eutrophication. Eutrophication is the over-fertilization of the water, which promotes excessive plant growth and habitat imbalances, resulting in the deaths of certain species. It is mainly caused by nutrients, especially nitrogen and phosphorus (Government of Canada, 2014).

In order to deal with the increasing impact of wastewater on ecosystems, several solutions have been developed to better control its release. Wastewater treatment plants have been the main solution to this issue for several decades. Decontamination is usually carried out in three different processes. Primary treatment is the settling of solids by sedimentation. Secondary treatment is the removal of organic and suspended solid through the use of microorganisms in aerobic conditions. Tertiary treatment is the removal of specific wastewater compounds that could not be removed in the previous steps, which can be done through filtration, flocculation, and disinfection through the use of ozone gas, chlorine or ultraviolet light (FAO, 1992).

However, the government of Canada admits that wastewater treatment plants have not been entirely successful in treating contaminated water. It has been shown that the insufficient wastewater treatment has had both environmental and health consequences, especially harming wildlife populations (Government of Canada, 2014). With the increasing population and increasing barriers to accessing clean water, there is a stronger need for wastewater decontamination, and this has put a greater stress on the industry. Microbial indicators are commonly detected in treated wastewater effluent. It is estimated that 88% of diarrheal diseases as well as 1.7 million deaths worldwide are the direct results of unsafe water (Naidoo & Olaniran, 2013). It is clear that existing methods have not been sufficient at properly treating wastewater, and it is becoming crucial to develop more advanced methods.

Our design team has been striving to develop a system that would benefit the wastewater treatment industry. There is research currently being done on the use of algae to remove nutrients from wastewater. Algal bioreactors are usually used for tertiary treatment, and appear to have a potential to improve current techniques. At this tertiary stage, the large majority of substances contaminating the wastewater have been removed and all that remains should be nutrients, heavy metals and microorganisms. The use of algae for nutrient uptake has long been studied and implemented at this stage. Our team has been working on improving an existing photobioreactor by focusing on light configuration to improve algal efficiency. The main design is centered on a lab-scale photobioreactor, although the team has been considering ways of scaling up the design so it could be implemented in the industry as well.

1.1 Vision Statement

The vision of the team is to optimize photobioreactor conditions and parameters to increase nutrient removal efficiency on a small-scale wastewater setting using microorganisms for biomass and breakdown of contaminants.

2.0. Customer Needs Assessment

As Mr. Loganathan mentioned to us early on in the project, he was not thinking of using a photobioreactor for his work in the future. However, since his work focuses on the optimization of algal biomass conversion to secondary products, he was still interested in working with us on this project as it is directly related to the step prior to his work. He also let us know that he believed it was an interesting concept with a lot of potential that still requires many improvements. Since he was not hoping to use our product, he did not provide very specific guidelines as to how our team should approach this problem. However, he did provide a few recommendations to help our research run more efficiently along the way, which have been combined into Fig. 1.



Figure 1. Decision flow chart based on client recommendations. Legend: Blue contour – Goal; Red contour – Criteria; Yellow contour – Alternatives.

Our client was very specific in letting us know that the most important components of the photobioreactor that need improvements are the mixing and lighting systems. From his advice, we decided to focus on these two main aspects of the design. We later conducted a thorough literature review to analyze the different alternatives of each component, see section 5.0 of the report for more details. Another important consideration our client pointed out for us was that we should focus on studying the algal strain Scenedesmus obliquus. This strain is widely studied in the scientific community, including by our client himself, which would allow us to gather required data efficiently. This strain is also very efficient at biomass assimilation (Shen et al., 2015), making it a strong candidate for biomass production in our proposed photobioreactor design. In fact, S. obliquus has been determined to have a photosynthetic efficiency of up to 5% in CO2 supplemented environments (de Marchin et al., 2015), which is much higher than the approximated 2% for terrestrial plants (Anyanwu et al., 2018). Additionally, the client suggested that we do not focus on the light-dark cycle lighting systems, as those were not as efficient for biomass production for short-term batch growth. From these recommendations by Mr. Loganathan, we conducted our own research to propose a design that would satisfy his needs and potentially the industry. His preferences were taken into account throughout the design consideration, and allowed us to work more efficiently.

A variety of bioreactor designs already exist on the market, each with different benefits and advantages. Selecting the appropriate design often depends on the purpose and the scale it will be used for. A difficulty also associated with bioreactors is the wide range of requirements that varies with the strain or species being grown. This aspect makes it more difficult to be able to find a standard design to work with.

However, one of the biggest challenges that the industry is facing is the unviable cost associated with bioreactors. This cost comes from both the manufacturing side as well as the operating part of the bioreactor since they are very energy intensive, and often do not produce enough biomass to justify this cost. While benchtop photobioreactors for research purposes have a small market, many companies have been unsuccessful at using bioreactors for commercial profit in the biomass industry (Gendy & El-Temtamy, 2013). In fact, Mr. Loganathan guided us to Dr. Lefsrud who has previously worked on designing and building a bioreactor, along with Dr. Lyew. They were able to provide us with the data they had collected for the cost of manufacturing their design and the final estimation was around 14,000 CAD for a 1.5L bioreactor.

We decided that since we were mainly focusing on designing a photobioreactor for laboratory and research purposes, we were going to try to reduce the costs of our design as much as possible to make it accessible to more researchers. The data that Dr. Lyew provided was later used to compare our own data to determine the cost efficiency and the cost benefits of our design. We also realized that most of the operating costs for bioreactors were high due to the energy required to power them, so we focused on making the bioreactor more energy efficient in our design process. Doing so would be beneficial both for the economic and environmental aspects of our design.

3.0 Revised Needs Statement and Target Specifications

3.1 Client Recommendations

Mr. Loganathan has expressed his willingness to oversee the project in a way which allows for flexibility in design and constraints. As a PhD candidate, he cannot rely on designs from a yearlong design process, nor is he able to directly use the product in his own research due to his own tight project time constraints and needs. However, having been in the algal research field for several years, our client has shared limitations in the field, and current challenges with algal growth conditions on the lab scale. According to Mr. Loganathan, most lab-scale experiments utilize previously-established optimized conditions for algae growth, but experiments are often conducted on shaker tables in flasks. While this is suitable for small-scale experiments, if a large volume of biomass must be obtained, a photobioreactor with a controlled environment can be advantageous. This is especially true for researchers who study biomass processing and harvesting, which includes our client.

The original criteria were established at the beginning of the project for the design of the photobioreactor for algal growth.

- Affordability: First, Mr. Loganathan expressed that lab equipment, including photobioreactors, tends to be expensive and unaffordable for laboratories that do not specialize solely on biomass harvesting or post-processing. He established that a successful design would result in consistent, reliable productivities while keeping the costs of manufacture, maintenance and operation at a minimum.
- **Minimization of Clogging:** Second, Mr. Loganathan explained that because of algae's tendency to aggregate near light sources, one challenge to solve would be to minimize aggregation by establishing mixing methods, as well as proper light distribution throughout the reactor. A related challenge is the relatively quick decline in productivity from a decrease in light intensity due to an initial increase in turbidity from growth. This can be addressed through gentle mixing and proper light distribution.
- **Nutrient Removal**: Third, the reactor must be effective at decreasing typical nutrient concentration profiles in a typical, lab-standard solution representing the average chemical makeup of fresh tertiary stage wastewater.
- **Ergonomic**: Fourth, the reactor must be easy to use in the lab without excessive energy or time inputs. It must be easy to sterilize, safe to use, and easy to clean off algal and nutrient residues.

In addition to these original four client specifications, the design must adhere to standards for bioreactor design, considering safety factors, as well as performance indicators which must be addressed and optimized to ensure a successful design.

3.2 Minimum Design Standards

Although the design is not associated with high biohazard risk due to the non-toxic nature of the algae being cultivated, there are several standards of quality and safety which must be considered and observed to ensure the design's compliance with minimum design standards for laboratory equipment. The design must not pose high risk of electrocution, contamination, physical injury or other damage; additionally, in case of major damage, there must be failure systems in place to ensure minimization of damage. The World Health Organization (WHO) has summarized the minimum design standards of the International Standard Organization (ISO) in its Laboratory Quality Standards and their Implementation report (WHO, 2011).

For laboratory equipment WHO has set the following relevant technical guidelines which are relevant to the the design and operation of a photobioreactor:

- (1) The equipment must have access to uninterrupted power supply, and have control systems for temperature, etc. Additionally, decommissioning instructions must be included for all systems.
- (2) The design must not interfere with any existing lab safety protocols. In this system, for instance, the reactor cannot be positioned in any way which impedes escape routes, can cause spillage, or can cause any harm to lab users or technicians. Furthermore, the use of CO₂ for the sparge system requires handling high pressure gas in the lab setting. Therefore, the setup must not interfere with existing protocols, including the securement of the gas tanks with an appropriate belt at all times, as well as safety features in the design which minimize the risk of the sparge system's failure.
- (3) The reactor system must be properly labelled, and come with an operation and maintenance manual. All lab protocols for the recording of use, maintenance dates and problems must be observed with the same rigor as other laboratory equipment. The system must also be adequate for general lab inspections for overall safety conditions in the workspace.

3.3 Performance Indicators

Basic performance indicators that can be monitored throughout operation to ensure proper functioning of the reactor include passing laboratory safety inspections, and fulfilling basic criteria which are required for optimal growth conditions. All research facilities and institutions including McGill University have Environment, Health and Safety (EHS) divisions which conduct routine laboratory inspections to ensure all practices and equipment meet safety guidelines set by that institution. These guidelines are mostly based off other standards and guidelines such as those set by ISO and the World Health Organization. Examples of passing criteria for the reactor then, include safety measures against electrocution and pressure failure, as well as placement and operation within the lab which does not interfere with other lab safety requirements (placement, operation, power input, etc). (McGill EHS, 2017).

Measurement of effectiveness of the design can be validated with experimental tests, modelling, and the assurance of parameters which are required for all optimized growth settings. These parameters pertain mostly to general needs for photobioreactors. The purpose of this design is to serve as a photobioreactor on a small scale. However, since all lab-scale technology usually have industrial applications for larger-scale settings, scale-up considerations are briefly considered, though not thoroughly analyzed.

(1). Contained Environment. Most algal wastewater treatment approaches involve only High Rate Algal Pond (HRAP) systems or raceway ponds because of the relatively small energy input and ability to store large volumes of water (Hadiyanto et al., 2013). However, there are several drawbacks to these systems. First, contamination from bacteria, yeasts, protozoa, and other microalgae organisms results in a competitive environment, which can reduce the consistency and quantity of the microalgae harvest (Kligerman et al., 2015). Although some researchers have found that using a bacteria-algae consortium can be helpful for nutrient balance, post-processing steps as well as sanitation methods of the water after treatment can prove challenging as well (Wang et al., 2016). By controlling the system for pH levels, carbon sources, temperature and light frequency and intensity, these challenges can be avoided. Additionally, since HRAP's are only useful and effective in regions of the world where there are consistent light/dark cycles and temperatures around 25-30°C, an open pond system would not be feasible in Canada or many other regions of the world (Grönlund & Fröling, 2014).

(2). Light Distribution. The nature of the system must maximize light distribution within the reactor in order to decrease the growth plateau often seen in populations experiencing rapid growth. The limiting factor for growth in a wastewater treatment setting must be the nutrients, not the other conditions, since the aim of wastewater treatment is to remove potentially harmful contaminants that can cause ecological or health risks. Therefore, the system must, to as great an extent as possible, provide equal light intensities to each part of the total volume. This can be limited by practical factors, including the ease of cleaning light fixtures, wiring and material costs and volumes. Thus, light distribution is an optimization problem which must be solved in an innovative way by considering ergonomics, economics and algal growth. Additionally, ideal wavelengths of light for optimal growth, reducing overheating from lighting elements, and other specifications should be considered to save inputs and maximize productivity.

(3). Gentle Mixing. Like lighting, the mixing system must provide a way to circulate nutrients and algae to provide an even distribution of algae, as well as to reduce clogging effects caused by algae's natural tendency to aggregate near the light source (Ugwu et al., 2008). However, it is important to consider that highly turbulent fluid conditions would also inhibit algal growth, and

possibly even cause cell death (Molina et al., 2002). In natural settings, algae are most commonly found in stagnant, warm waters with high nutrient levels and light exposure (Paerl et al., 2001). While a photobioreactor has distinctively different properties than a natural pond ecosystem, the necessary requirements for life and reproduction of the cell must be met.

(4). Scalability. Although the design is aimed to fulfill laboratory needs, it is crucial to consider the effects that scale-up would have on the efficiency and impact of the design. For this reason, when selecting materials, some decisions may have to be made that would not necessarily have the smallest impact financially and environmentally in a laboratory, but would be required upon scalability. For instance, while using some recycled, post-consumer products such as water jugs may be appealing on a lab scale due to the small financial investment and repurposing capability, using recycled or repurposed plastic would not be feasible financially or environmentally on an industrial scale.

4.0 External Search

4.1. Literature Review

4.1.2 Photobioreactor Designs

With algae's potential for biofuel production and its ability to be transformed into other useful products, extensive research has already been performed on this topic. Bioreactors are closed system vessels with controlled environment used to grow living organisms, usually for the production of a derived product (Bhatia and Bera, 2015). Being able to better control the medium allows the user to manage the system's parameters, such as temperature, pH, oxygen and carbon dioxide. These parameters have effects on the growth kinetics and the biomass productivity of the microorganisms in the system (Najafpour, 2007). Photobioreactors have been extensively studied since the 1950s, and there are a variety of different designs already available on the market; however, these designs have limitations regarding productivity. The three main characteristics of photobioreactors that affect their efficiencies are light distribution, mixing, and pH (or dissolved CO₂ availability) (Huang et al., 2017). Existing designs have strived to improve each of these factors for an optimal biomass productivity.

In comparison to bioreactors, open pond systems are also used for treatment and algal biomass production, but the systems are difficult to control because of their open-system nature. This can make it difficult to obtain a desired organism growth rate or productivity. Still, open ponds currently remain the most industrially applied system because of their low cost (Costa and de Morais, 2014). This highlights the high and inefficient cost of bioreactors. The volumetric productivity in photobioreactors is larger than that in open pond systems (Posten, 2009), but their theoretical maximum productivity is never achieved. Additionally, their high capital costs and

operational costs caused by their energy consumption have made competition with open pond systems difficult. Photobioreactors have a strong potential, however, as they are able to reach a volumetric productivity that is on average 13 times higher than that of open ponds. and only require about two thirds of the space open ponds need to occupy (Chisti, 2007). They have a good potential for the biomass industry, which has led to an increase in research for the optimization of their output to input ratios, especially regarding the cost and energy requirements.

As more photobioreactor research is being performed, various designs have surfaced, each with their own specifications and performance rates. One of the most prominent photobioreactor is the bubble column design. In this model, the lighting is at the exterior of a transparent column made of glass or plastic. An aeration device is inserted into the bottom of the system to provide adequate mixing by pushing air bubbles through the medium. This aeration mechanism is also a way to provide carbon dioxide required for microorganism photosynthesis. This design is advantageous due to its relatively low cost and its large surface area, which results in high lighting efficiency. However, it is limited by its space requirements and photoinhibition effects, caused by excess light which damages the microorganisms' photosystem II and reduces photosynthetic rates (Patyna and Witczak, 2016). A strong lighting control for this design is therefore required.

The airlift photobioreactor is a recent design that has gained attention for its productivity potential. It is composed of two different sections: one with the gas inlet receiving the mixing, and the other with no mixing occurring (Patyna and Witczak, 2016). This design is growing in popularity because of its good mixing rates and photosynthetic efficiency. However, this is only true at low biomass concentrations; the mixing and growth becomes inefficient once the cell density is too high (Al-Mashhadani et al., 2015). In this case, the lighting system is also on the outside of the bioreactor because of the interior sectioning and mixing requirements. Research for scaling up this design is being conducted because of its productivity at a small-scale, but it is experiencing difficulties being implemented for large-scale applications.

Panel photobioreactors' defining characteristic is that they are able to minimize the light path, or light penetration. Since they are very thin, the light can reach the entire system, which means photosynthesis and light use tend towards the system's theoretical efficiency. However, to attain a significant volume of biomass, this requires more space. Scaling up this design is difficult and the cost evolves linearly, as it requires multiple identical units. This design reaches optimal mixing using bubble or gas sparging at the bottom of the panel (Patyna and Witczak, 2016). This system also enables efficient excess gas removal to prevent oxygen accumulation. It also appears to be relatively inexpensive to manufacture and easy to maintain, which should also lower running costs (Ugwu et al., 2008).

The shape of tubular and spiral photobioreactors is also unique, with the aim of increasing photosynthetic efficiency. They consist of multiple loop- or spiral-shaped pipes, so that they can

be placed directionally towards the light source, allowing the microorganisms to efficiently use the light they receive. This design also uses a gas exchange system for carbon dioxide input and oxygen removal. The issue with this design is mainly its high energy consumption, and therefore running costs (Patyna and Witczak, 2016). It also has fouling effects, and could be prone to biofilm formation on its wall surfaces, which would reduce lighting and photosynthetic efficiency (Ugwu et al., 2008).

Tank photobioreactors are often used in wastewater treatment. This is mostly because of the conventional design with typical mechanical mixing at the bottom of the tank and light penetrating the system from the outside. The gas sparging is efficient, as the bubbles can enter from under the agitation device, so they will be uniformly distributed inside the bioreactor. This ensures both carbon dioxide assimilation and adequate mixing. Although the shape allows for efficient mixing, it also reduces the light distribution in the system, as it is usually too deep for the light to reach the microorganisms in the center of the tank (Patyna and Witczak, 2016; Luangpipat, 2013).

Photobioreactors have developed over the past few decades, and improvements have been made to optimize their parameters. Even though their biomass productivity is quite high, at around 1.5 kg/m³ per day (Chisti, 2007), they are expensive and difficult to use on an industrial scale. The average biomass productivity can also vary depending on the system, its parameters, and even the microorganisms used (Majid et al., 2014). The most important characteristic of a photobioreactor is its light distribution, since it determines the photosynthetic efficiency of the system. The mixing of the microorganisms is usually a good way to efficiently expose them to light, provided an adequate light path exists. The gas inlet and outlet are also major components of the design, as carbon dioxide is required for photosynthesis, and the presence of oxygen could eventually cause photooxidation. Thus, there is still crucial work that remains for photobioreactor development. It is necessary for systems to incorporate each of these parameters effectively to increase biomass yield and decrease running costs. Photobioreactors have a potential for efficient biomass and biofuel production, and could compete with fossil fuel production in the future.

4.1.2 Lighting Characteristics and Requirements

The lighting system used in photobioreactors must be closely monitored to satisfy light requirements for optimal growth. While photosynthesis requires a minimum light penetration, photosynthetic efficiency may also be limited by excess light because of photo-inhibiting effects (de Mooij et al., 2016). There are many aspects of the light system that affect efficiency, and it is necessary to look in-depth at each of these as this is currently one of the limiting factors to reach theoretical efficiency.

One of the reasons algae has such a high potential for biofuel production and why it is regarded as a good fuel alternative is because it can reach up to 80% of its theoretical maximum

photosynthetic efficiency, even in low light intensities (de Mooij et al., 2016). To further enhance productivity, light wavelengths should be examined for lighting optimization. Most algal strains used in photobioreactors have similar requirements. In general, algae absorbs light photons through green pigments, or chlorophylls located inside the chloroplasts of a cell. The pigment has an optimal absorption rate for photons of wavelengths of 450-475 nm and 630-675 nm.

However, in a light color absorption optimization study for algal photobioreactor efficiency, de Mooij et al. (2016) found that the color yellow (570-590 nm), is optimal for algae absorption and assimilation. Other studies show that using red lights (650-700 nm) for photosynthesis results in a more efficient growth rate because chlorophylls absorb those wavelengths better (Carvalho et al., 2011).

The system's irradiance is also a major factor because it directly affects the quantity of photons received by the chlorophylls of the cell, and therefore the rate of photosynthesis. Irradiance is more difficult to control in the lighting system because it depends on cell density, the light path and the algal strain. The benefit of using algae in photobioreactors is their photosynthetic efficiency, which is around 5-11% compared to 1-2% for terrestrial plants. This photosynthetic efficiency for algae could theoretically reach over 25% if all the conditions were optimal for the strain (Gutierrez-Wing et al., 2014). Irradiance is also affected by the light path, or the depth of the medium (usually water), that the light has to reach. The irradiance does not decrease linearly with depth, however, as there is a stronger light attenuation in the first few centimeters of the light path on the irradiance, as well as the effect of irradiance on photosynthetic efficiency. These can be useful in the optimization of a photobioreactor design for enhanced photosynthesis and algal proliferation.

Similar to light path, cell density has an impact on the irradiance available along that path. A high irradiance will provide sufficient photon availability for continued algal growth when there is already a high cell density, but would potentially lead to photoinhibition during the initial phases of the system. This leads to the possibility of evolving the light intensity with time as cell density increases. Another possibility would be to expose the algal cells to the light intensity for a shorter period of time. Pulsating lighting systems, creating short light/dark cycles, have been previously researched, with various frequencies addressing light intensity issues, although their efficiencies can also be counter-productive for cell proliferation. Models also exist to characterize the increase of irradiance needs with the increase in cell density or turbidity, but these can be difficult to generalize, since irradiance requirements may vary with the algal strain (Gutierrez-Wing et al., 2014).

Since light requirements differ with the strain of algae used, it is necessary here to look further into the optimization of light for *Scenedesmus obliquus*. A study by Sforza et al. (2014)

looks in depth at the irradiance requirements of this strain and provides an overview of how to meet its demands using photobioreactors. It appears that the optimal irradiance for *Scenedesmus obliquus* is around 150 μ mol.m⁻².s⁻¹, or approximately 32 W.m⁻². This light intensity provides the most efficient results for the specific growth rate of algae. This value is only accurate for batch photobioreactor systems, whereas continuous photobioreactors would require about twice this light intensity. The lipid content is not highest for this irradiance, but still remains at 42% of dry weight. This study also explores the effect of pulsed light on this algal strain, and it appears to have led to a retarded algal growth (Sforza et al., 2014). It would therefore be best for this strain to monitor the cell density increase with time and potentially adjust the light intensity with it.

Since the purpose of photobioreactors is to grow microorganisms for a future purpose, it is possible to adjust the parameters inside the photobioreactor to meet the demands of the industry for which the algae is grown. For biofuel production, the industry requires a high oil content, which can be obtained from the lipid or fatty acids content of the microalgae. Various studies have shown the evolution of lipid content with light intensity; however, lipid content may depend on other factors in the photobioreactor environment such as pH (or CO2 availability) and temperature. It has been shown that the combination of a low light intensity system with a high pH could risk having a low lipid content in the output biomass (Cuellar-Bermudez et al., 2015). Different strains and species of microalgae behave differently under light intensities, as they will have different requirements and possibly different methods of using light energy. It appears that for Scenedesmus spp., a gradual increase in light intensity results in a similar increase in biomass productivity. However, it is important to note at which light intensity the strain could potentially induce photoinhibition, since this would decrease biomass productivity, and therefore the lipid content. It is crucial to keep in mind the optimal light intensity range for biomass productivity, as this increases the overall components in the cell. It is also interesting to look deeper in that range, given that the lipid content increases with increasing optimal light intensity. It has also been reported that high irradiance towards the end of the process can increase lipid content inside the cell (Diffusa et al., 2015). These various techniques could be beneficial for the biofuel industry.

4.2 Benchmarking

4.2.1 Commercial Designs

The design of the photobioreactor for the client must be comparable in performance parameters and productivities in order to be considered as research-grade equipment. Table 1 summarizes select specifications of five different commercial models, including reactor type, efficiency, lighting, mixing and others. Several existing models include a variety of sensor systems, as well as tunable settings. While this makes the system more flexible for a variety of applications, the addition of many different sensors, timers and other instrumentation features can make each reactor expensive. Since the objective for the client's needs is to create an inexpensive alternative, some of the features included in commercial products will be omitted, while maintaining some of the control and tunability for optimization purposes. One of the most common lab-scale algae photobioreactors is known as the Elara Bench top reactor, which is based on the flat panel design, but can also be incorporated in a vessel-type reactor. Flat panel reactors, while efficient on small scales, can be limited for long-term large scale due to maintenance and breakage issues (Yang, 2007). Additionally, flat panel reactors have large space requirements, and require constant outer lighting systems, which are two conditions that are not acceptable for this design context (Sledgers et al., 2011). Other reactors generally have vessel type conformations with a variety of mixing and lighting systems, including bubble gas sparging, air lift, and internal and external lighting, respectively. Generally, designs of photobioreactors are diverse, and therefore, can be designed for the needs specified. The objective for this design is to optimize the light distribution in a similar way to a flat panel reactor, while maintaining a large volume relative to the material, in a vessel-style reactor. Therefore, an examination of commercially successful designs can help in the selection and design criteria of our own design.

System	Category	Size	Efficiency	Lighting	Mixing	Other	Source
Bodega Alga, LLC	Vessel	N/A	N/A	Internal solar lighting	Flue gas sparging	Modular/ stackable	Bodega Algae (n.d)
Subitec	Flat panel air lift	1.8x1.6x0. 4 m 928 L capacity	Up to 3 g/L; 500 g/m2/day	High pressure sodium vapor lamp	Gassing membrane; pressure differential recirculation	Continuous or batch reaction	Subitec (2017).
Commercial Algae reactor	Vessel	100L	125- fold increase in in 7- 10 days	N/A	N/A	Operating cost \$46/batch	Commercia l Algae (2015).
Elara Bench top reactor	Vessel or Flat Panel	4 L or 1.6 L	N/A	Dimmable LED system from 0- 3000 umol photon/m2	CO2 addition:manu al or pH based	N/A	Solaris (2018).
Qubit Systems	Controlled flow bubble	0.5x0.25x0 .35 m (400 ml unit)	N.A	LED system: intensity and spectrum control	Controlled gas bubbling	Chlorophyll fluorescence monitor, 90-240 V	Quibit (2014).

Table 1. Comparison of specifications for five commercially available laboratory photobioreactors

5.0 Concept Generation and Selection

5.1. Design Options and Selection

Since the commercialization of photobioreactors in the 1950s, a variety of designs have reached the market. Each possibility has its own specific emphasis on parameters the inventor considered most important. Most designs focus on improving the light distribution and mixing efficiency, and they tend to approach the possibility of scaling up the system. Hybrids of these designs also exist, to benefit from both designs' strengths. The following Pugh chart was used to

analyze and weigh the benefits of existing designs, with a score of 1 to 5 being assigned for each system component (1 being very low and 5 being very high).

Table 2. A Pugh decision matrix was used for the determination of reactor category for the project. According to the scoring criteria, the bubble column and internal illumination have the most desirable traits for the design problem.

			Types of photobioreactors									
	Weight	Column	Bubble column	Airlift	Flat panel	Tubular horizontal	Spiral	Tank	Internal illumination	In series		
Energy consumption	-4	1	1	1	1	3	1	1	1	5		
Surface/Volume ratio	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	1	5	5		
Mixing efficiency	4	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5		
Overall efficiency	4	1	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	N/A		
Space required	-1	1	1	1	5	5	1	5	1	5		
Ease of variable control (T, pH, O2, etc)	2	5	2	5	1	1	1	5	5	5		
Cost	-3	1	1	5	2	2	1	1	2	5		
Maintenance	-2	1	1	3	1	2	3	1	3	5		
Scalability	1	5	5	1	1	5	5	5	5	5		
Total Score		54	64	50	51	45	58	46	63	N/A		

The lighting system of the design is mostly affected by the light path and light distribution. This can interpreted by the surface area to volume ratio of the bioreactor. A higher ratio generally corresponds to a better light distribution and shorter light path, and most existing designs aim to maintain a high surface area to volume ratio. The tank design, however, has a large cubic-like volume that does not allow for efficient penetration of light.

The mixing system of the design is another important factor to consider, since it is the only factor that ensures proper algal suspension in the solution. It is necessary for the nutrients to be homogenous within the bioreactor so that all microorganism cells have the same capacity to grow. Also, mixing is the principal factor that moves the microalgae around inside the bioreactor (cells have some autonomous mobility, but is considered negligible for this design). This allows them to receive equal amounts of light and nutrients. It also ensures that if the lighting system is not

optimal, each algal cell would still receive the same amount, and no cell would constantly be in the dark, or in low light intensity. This is also used to prevent the formation of biofilms, as that would completely prevent the light from penetrating the bioreactor. The usual mixing used is either mechanical mixing or air bubble sparging.

Factors such as space required, ease of variable control, maintenance and cost are important for the researcher using the design. These factors represent the investment the user would need to make, in manufacturing and labor costs. They also include the risks associated with the design and the ease of use for the workers. These considerations are important for both the company and its employees, as they indirectly affect the efficiency of the design. Designs with unique shapes, such as the tubular, spiral and panel photobioreactors, appear to have a more complicated use and would require more expertise for handling.

Using the Pugh matrix analysis, a hybrid design combining the two most efficient designs was chosen. The hybrid photobioreactor would then combine the benefits of both designs. This design should obtain a high mixing efficiency from the bubble column design, as well as a strong potential for scalability and an ease of variable control from the internal illumination system. The relatively simple parameter control inside the system could prove useful for the researchers using the design, as they would be able to vary those parameters according to their needs. Also, since the system has a high mixing efficiency, the biomass output should be quite high, as long as the lighting system is efficient.

Since this design includes internal illumination, there are few optimal systems available. The usual set-up is composed of light sticks, parallel to the length of the reactor. For this project, the team decided to opt for a unique shape for the design: a helical lighting system. This design will be mounted on rods to obtain the desired shape and to ensure ease of removal, for cleaning or maintenance. This shape will require more material, but it is also expected that the light distribution would be more efficient and that it would cover more volume inside the reactor.

5.2. Lighting System

The use of various lighting amounts to about 20% of the total electrical consumption in developed countries. This stresses the fact that light is very energy consuming. For a photobioreactor this will have cost implications, and it is therefore necessary to obtain the most cost-efficient and optimal lighting system for the algae. There are a variety of lighting options available for bioreactors: incandescent lighting, compact fluorescent lighting (CFL), light emitting diodes (LEDs) and natural sunlight.

The different lighting options vary significantly in efficiency, so it is important to understand the implications of each system. The light received by the algal chloroplasts can be measured by a physical unit called the lumen. The lumen is expressed in terms of sensitivity of the human eye, where peak sensitivity is achieved at a wavelength of 550 nm. The ideal efficiency of a lighting system is reached when 683 lm/W is produced at 555 nm with no losses, and the lowest lighting efficiency would be 0 lm/W, for ultraviolet- or infrared-emitting systems.

The lighting systems currently available have relatively low lighting efficiencies. The incandescent light bulb is only able to reach an efficiency of 15 lm/W, while CFL efficiencies can reach 80 lm/W. Additionally, only about 5% of the electrical power consumed can be converted to visible light by incandescent lighting systems, and this is even less for emitting specific colors. The rest of the power consumed is emitted as heat. This could be an issue for photobioreactors, as it would either result in a loss of energy, or, if placed inside the medium, in an increase in temperature above the threshold required for optimal microorganism growth (Gayral, 2017). By comparison, the conversion of electrical power to visible light by CFLs is around 27%, significantly higher than that of incandescent light (Mills, 2004). LED systems are also known to be more efficient, which is one of the reasons they have grown in popularity over the past few decades.

Besides lighting efficiency, it is important to look at relative costs of each lighting system. In fact, LEDs are much more expensive than CFL which is also more expensive than incandescent, at the initial purchase. However, incandescent lights have a life-expectancy of about 2,000 hours, whereas CFL can last for 8,000 hours and LEDs can last for up to 25,000 hours. These variations in life-expectancies will have a significant impact on the running costs of the photobioreactor. Moreover, incandescent light bulbs would require 100 W of electrical power and CFL would require 25 W, whereas LEDs would only require about 13.5 W. Even though electrical power is not very expensive in Quebec, this would still impact the running costs of the photobioreactor. In the end, the LED system would be the most cost-efficient for a photobioreactor. Although LEDs' predicted life expectancies are generally over their actual life-expectancies, if the LED system only lasts for a fifth of the expected life expectancy, it would have about the same cost-efficiency of a CFL system (Gayral, 2017).

The impact of the lighting system on the environment is also a major concern when deciding which one to use, so it can prove useful to look at each life assessment. An important factor to take into account is the energy consumption, and it has been observed that incandescent lighting systems are very inefficient for this reason (Sangwan et al., 2014). In fact, incandescent light bulbs have even been banned in some countries, including those in the European Union, in order to promote energy savings (European Commission, 2008). LED systems are not much more environmentally-friendly than CFL systems. However, the main difference between both systems is that CFL bulbs contain mercury, a hazardous material if the bulbs are broken, and this requires proper recycling (Gayral, 2017). Thus, LED systems appear to be the better lighting system when taking into account environmental considerations.

A final lighting option is sunlight. A significant number of photobioreactors use the sun as their source of light. The main reason for this is to drive the overall costs down, both for manufacturing and running costs. This system would also be very environmentally friendly since there is no material or energy use. However, the use of sunlight for photobioreactor lighting also has many disadvantages. Firstly, this would require the photobioreactor to be placed outside, which makes it prone to climate conditions. Also, there would be no photosynthesis and therefore biomass growth during the night. This is a major productivity loss for the system. Finally, it implies that there would be no control on the lighting system, which is risky since lighting is one of the main factors affecting photobioreactor efficiency and biomass productivity. These major drawbacks have very strong implications, and the benefits that would come from using sunlight were considered to be insufficient for the design.

LEDs appear to be the most efficient lighting system overall, and they have many other advantages that would benefit the photobioreactor greatly. In fact, using LEDs allows for good color control; the system can have almost a single wavelength output. This would increase the efficiency of the photobioreactor since algal strains have optimal rates of photosynthesis at certain ranges of wavelengths. It is also possible to change the brightness level of the system easily, which is not the case for CFLs. This would be useful for our design, since there will need to be an increase in light intensity with increasing cell density. LEDs are a cold light source, and will not emit heat, so they should not affect the temperature inside the bioreactor. They are also said to have a better light distribution efficiency; this will also increase productivity (Mills, 2004). Finally, they have the best power conversion efficiency and life-expectancy. So, they will reduce the overall cost of the system while increasing the biomass productivity, which is why they were chosen for the light source of this design.

5.3. Outer Structure

The outer structure of the design represents the bulk of the material used in this system. It was therefore necessary to choose a strong, sustainable and cost-efficient material. Having a transparent material for the outer structure is the common choice for most photobioreactors since the lighting system is often on the outside of the design. Synthesized polymers, or plastic, and glass are the main options for the transparent material to build a structure. The variety of plastic available on the market allows for a diverse set of material properties which makes it convenient for designs including photobioreactors. However, as the popularity of plastic has increased, plastic waste has been accumulating at an increasing rate. This is partly because of the successive degradation of the material's quality after each recycling. Even for plastics that could be recycled to other usable products, only about 9% of the plastic being produced is recycled (Gross, 2017). Plastic is the most popular option for photobioreactors due to its variable characteristics but also because of its very inexpensive cost. Compared to plastic materials, glass has a higher recyclability such that 33% is being recycled (US EPA, 2015). However, it is a much more expensive material, which then becomes extra costs that are not affordable for a photobioreactor design. As a comparison, the cost of plastic, more specifically polyethylene or polyvinyl chloride, ranges between 1.00-1.50 USD/kg; whereas the cost of glass can go up to 3.90 USD/kg for laminates (Ortiz, 2003).

Another material option for the outer structure of the photobioreactor design is a metallic body, such as SAE 304 stainless steel. This material seemed like the better option when compared to the previous ones since it is being recycled at a rate of 73% of material produced (US EPA, 2015). Stainless steel has a higher durability and overall life expectancy than the other materials considered. It is also a relatively inexpensive material, especially compared to glass, though still higher than plastic, at a cost of 2.70 USD/kg (Ortiz, 2003). These characteristics of stainless steel were also part of the decision of having internal illumination for this design.

5.4. System Dimensions

Like the shape, the dimensions of the photobioreactor have a direct impact on the efficiency of the system, it is crucial to study the structure of the bioreactor for optimal performance. The size and shape of the bioreactor has a major effect on the light distribution and penetration, which in turn will affect the photosynthetic rate. They will also have an effect on the mixing, as stronger mixing will be required for larger volumes. Since the chosen design for the bioreactor is a column structure with bubble sparging, it is necessary to determine the most efficient length and diameter for this column.

Fernandes et al. (2010) studied the optimal light regime for bubble column photobioreactors thoroughly in their research and it was possible to model the productivity of a photobioreactor according to its dimensions using their results. It is clear that microalgae require a certain amount of light intensity to reach them so that they receive sufficient photons for their photosystems to be activated and therefore for photosynthesis to occur. Light of wavelength between 400-450 nm and 650-680 nm will dissipate at an even faster rate than for light of wavelength around 550 nm, this is because the microalgae in the photobioreactor will absorb the red and blue light whereas the green light will be left mostly untouched. The data provided for light of wavelength 540 nm was used to model the evolution of light intensity with increasing penetration, since the overall trend followed would remain similar to the preferred wavelengths. By plotting their results, for a cell density of 0.95 kg/m³, the following decreasing exponential model was obtained:

Light Intensity =
$$1.15 \times \exp(-0.59 \times Distance)$$

This equation was obtained with a coefficient of determination of 0.9856. It was possible to obtain penetration depth for the 50% irradiance value, which was about 7 mm for a cell density of 0.95 kg/m³. Similarly, it was possible to plot the results for light intensity with respect to cell density and the following polynomial function was obtained, for a depth of 5 mm:

Light Intensity =
$$-0.0675 \times CD^2 + 0.1205 \times CD + 0.8825$$

This equation was obtained with a coefficient of determination of 0.9814. The cell density receiving only 50% of the actual light irradiance would then be of about 1.25 kg/m^3 .

From these results, the dimensions for our photobioreactor design were determined. It was decided that the helical lighting structure would contain two separate helixes with a separation of 4 cm between each lighting strip. This allowed for more volume to be covered so that when the cell density becomes higher towards the end of the process (retention time of 2.3 days) most of the microalgae will still receive a strong percentage of the light intensity. Also, at the beginning of the process when the penetration is deep, the microalgae would not receive too much light in order to prevent photoinhibition. The diameter for the photobioreactor was also obtained from these results. It was decided that a diameter of 20 cm would be optimal for the growth of the microalgae. This way, the lighting structure could be placed 5 cm from the sides of the structure.

The dimensions for the photobioreactor's outer structure also depends on the mixing rate. In fact, mixing is crucial inside the bioreactor to ensure proper suspension of the microalgae, and also to ensure they receive a sufficient amount of CO_2 since it will be pumped in by the bubbles. The efficiency of mixing, and therefore the biomass productivity, is affected by the column height, and it appears to decrease linearly when this column exceeds a 1 m height, for a 20 cm diameter (Sanchez Miron et al., 1999). Since the efficiency remains relatively constant until this point, it was decided to opt for a 1 m high column since this will allow for the highest volume with the best overall efficiency. Thus, our photobioreactor design would have a length of 1 m and a diameter of 20 cm with the lighting structure 5 cm from the sides and two helixes separated by 4 cm (see Appendix 1.2 for schematics). This will provide a total volume of 31.4 L of wastewater being treated per batch. From the design and the lighting system, it is expected that an output biomass concentration of up to 4 kg/m³ could be obtained.

5.5. Carbon Dioxide Delivery

Carbon dioxide sparging is an important process for the optimization of algal growth through pH control. In addition, the bicarbonates formed by the dissolution of carbon dioxide in water can be used as a carbon source for biomass growth (Prathima Devi & Venkata Mohan, 2012). Microalgae tend to preferentially use bicarbonate rather than CO₂ as a carbon source (Kumar et al., 2011). Therefore, because of the cells' affinity for the dissolved carbon, an algal reactor with sufficient column length should theoretically minimize CO₂ leaving the system through exhaust. Additionally, since the formation of bicarbonate lowers a solution's pH, the method of sparging can reduce the alkalizing effects of algal metabolism, maintaining favorable conditions (Pegallapati & Nirmalakhandan, 2012). A quick uptake of bicarbonate also prevents the solution from becoming too acidic. Therefore, with careful control, the system should result in a balanced pH and adequate carbon availability.

The method of CO₂ sparging has also been suggested as a method for carbon sequestration to reduce effects of global warming and the rise of greenhouse gas emissions (Kumar et al., 2011). Previous designs of biofuel technologies involving CO₂ gas sequestration from waste emissions

exist both on the industrial and lab scales. For instance, GreenFuel Technologies (Massachusetts, USA) has used industrial smokestack emissions for the cultivation of *Chlamydomonas* algae (Rosenberg et al., 2008). Typically, depending on the fuel plant, emissions can range from 4-14%; other industries may have different emissions depending on their respective processes (Kumar et al., 2011). For *Scenedesmus obliquus*, a few studies found that 15% CO₂ concentration was optimal for maximum biomass when sparged at a rate of 600 mL/min (Kaewkannetra et al., 2012; Singh & Singh, 2014). On an industrial scale, therefore, a photobioreactor could be directly coupled with the exhaust outlet of a factory or processing plant for biomass, water treatment and exhaust treatment.

It is important to note that most studies in the literature consider optimized biomass or biolipid productivity for their optimization studies. While this project has some interest in the biomass productivity, the main goal is to create an effective wastewater treatment system. Usually, a higher biomass productivity corresponds to a proliferating algal population, which corresponds to higher nutrient removal rates. Therefore, most optimization assumptions made in the design lie on the assumption that optimized biomass productivity means more nutrient removal.

In a lab setting, however, CO_2 sparging must be conducted using pressurized gas cylinders for CO_2 enhancement. To obtain the ideal ratios, the near-pure CO_2 must be mixed with sterile ambient air to make a 15% CO_2 concentration. While the study by Kaewkannetra et al. (2012) was conducted with continuous sparging, some studies including the one by Prathima Devi and Venkata Mohan (2012) found that sparging must be intervaled to prevent acidification. They found that the optimal sparging interval for highest biomass was four hours. Because even similar experiments produce a variety of results depending on volume, temperature, and other factors, for our design, we recommend tracking pH, temperature and turbidity between experiments to see how much the parameters change between replications. In the case of a wide variety of values for pH and other factors, the design will incorporate a control system using a pH and turbidity sensor for real-time tracking of conditions. The control system will either notify the researcher of a need for adjustment of flow rate, light configuration, or other parameters via a smartphone app, or will control a valve for the CO_2 sparger, as well as a switch for the lighting setup.

In order to promote proper fluid flow in a bubble column reactor, a few main parameters must be considered. First, the development of the fluid profile must allow for an ideal liquid-gas interface for good mass transfer and dissolution characteristics (Zahradnik et al., 1997). The kinetics of adsorption of CO_2 into the surrounding medium involves reaction of CO_2 into bicarbonate ion, diffusion and convection. All these processes happen at the same time, so modelling or understanding the flow of bubbles upon contact would require consideration of all these processes (Chen, 2012).

Designing a photobioreactor for ideal flow regimes should result in better carbon dissolution, more effective carbon uptake, and less waste of influent CO₂ exiting as effluent. It is crucial that both the geometries and pressures account for the desired characteristics. For the proper gas flow regime to form, a flat plate is often placed at the bottom of a reactor to break up a large gas bubble, resulting in uniform, distributed gas bubbles with relatively high surface area to volume ratio (Singh and Sharma, 2012; Kantarci et al., 2005). Additionally, relatively high heat and mass transfer coefficients of bubble column reactors make this design ideal both for introduction of carbon dioxide, and for potential heating purposes (Kantarci et al., 2005). Because of the complexity of the hydrodynamic flows, diameter and height dimensions also contribute an important role to ideal bubble distribution (Zahradnik et al., 1997). An aspect ratio of 5 has been shown to be significant for the effect of gas hold-up, while designs with radial gas holdup profiles have been modeled to be the most reliable for scaling up and for consistent heat and mass transfer properties (Kantarci et al., 2005; Krishna and Ellenberger, 1996). A flow velocity of above 4 cm.s⁻ ¹ in a reactor with a diameter larger than 10 centimeters results in small bubbles because of the churn-turbulent regime; however, in the presence of slurry (a combination of solid and liquid), the gas bubbles tend to become larger (Kantarci et al., 2005).

An important consideration for the optimization of the bubble sparging design is the concept of weeping, which is a phenomenon that occurs when there is a pressure drop of the sparge gas as it passes through the perforated plates. Such a pressure drop can cause the liquid to leak through the perforations, which has design implications in terms of mixing efficiency, potential liquid-related damage, and overall decreased effectiveness of the system (Thorat et al., 2001). To prevent this, a study on critical weep velocities ($V_{o, crit}$) is needed. While this consideration has not been thoroughly explored in this report, a system which resembles our own (a bubble sparger with an aspect ratio of 5), proposed by Kharbanda & Chu (1970), gave an empirical correlation for weep point, given by

$$V_{O,min} = 46.4[5.37 * d_0^{2.16} * \rho_L - \sigma * d_0]$$

Where d_o refers to the hole diameter, ρ_L is the density of the reactor liquid and σ is the surface tension of water. According to Guo et al. (2017), the surface tension of water is 72.75 mN m⁻¹. The proposed hole diameter is 5 mm, and the density of water at 20° C is assumed to be approximately 1000 kg/m³. Therefore, calculated minimum sparge velocity is 2.67 m/s as an instantaneous velocity through the sparge hole; corresponding to approximately an initial velocity within the reactor of 6*10⁻³ m/s (See Appendix 2.7 for further details). For our design, we propose an initial bubble velocity (within the reactor) of 5 cm/s, as suggested by Deckwer et al., (1980). This is larger than the minimum critical velocity, so weeping is assumed to be negligible.

5.6. Gas Exhaust

Although an ideal photobioreactor would minimize waste gases of effluent, it is crucial for safety purposes that an outlet for waste gases from the reactor be capable of removing excess

particulate matter, and trapping potentially harmful by-product gases and vapours to prevent these from being released into indoor or outdoor environments. An outlet system is necessary for a semicontinuous bubble reactor, since the buildup of pressure in the reactor is neither safe nor helpful for the growth of a biological organism (Eibl & Eibl, 2008). Most often, reactors are equipped with scrubbers or filters which are sensitive to the emission of such by-products. Using an efficient fibrous filter such as a High Efficiency Particulate Air (HEPA) filter can be useful for retaining particulate matter and some gases. However, because pressure drops across the filters increase with the increase in trapped particles, filters quickly lose efficiency, and therefore must be replaced. As a result, though more expensive, wet scrubbers and bubble chambers may be more reasonable for long-term operation (Braddock et al., 2015; Peillon et al., 2017).

In a wet scrubber system, air pollution can be mitigated using a 'scrubbing' liquid, which is often water. In a more controlled system, the gases are stored in the liquid as dissolved gases or particulates (Braddock et al., 2015). For a lab-scale project, placement of the reactor with an outlet hose leading into a fume hood should be sufficient. However, for a larger-scale project, filtration and scrubbing must be considered in the life cycle analysis, economics and implementation of the design. It may be useful to model particulates from a typical wastewater profile in order to understand the scale of the issue of exhaust, and how much of a mitigation strategy must be undertaken as a result. However, exhaust is not thoroughly examined beyond these recommendations, as it is considered out of the scope of this lab-scale project.

6.0 Design Modelling and Performance Predictions

To verify the viability of the design proposed, the design team modelled the algal growth in the reactor to find an approximation for the biomass accumulation over the 2.3 days. Biological modelling can have many limitations and uncertainties, however, both due to natural variability of biological systems, and due to the complexity of conditions associated with 'optimized conditions.' Modern day modelling methods and scientific understanding, though rapidly increasing, are limited in capacity and power. Despite uncertainties in modelling capabilities, using computational simulations of engineering systems is a powerful way to perform preliminary analyses of the effectiveness of systems, as well as to compare systems using controlled, userspecified conditions. It can also serve as a way to immediately address system inefficiencies before capital and time expenditure on real system prototypes. Finally, simplifications of real systems can help elucidate relationships between various components by isolating phenomena and studying their effects on the system without the interference of other variables (Gerlee & Lundh, 2016).

For the proposed system, several models and simulations were used as an assessment of the effectiveness of the design. The principal model was a two dimensional simulation of algal growth in a cross section of a circular photobioreactor with a light ring at the center, representing the helical lighting configuration. This was used in order to approximate the final biomass output and to compare varying placements of lighting systems. The modelling environment used for this was NetLogo, which is an open-source, agent-based program specialized in the simulation of natural and social behaviors. Although there exist different programming languages that are agentbased, NetLogo was an appropriate tool for this design since it is a very user-friendly approach to simulation. Python is another example of an agent-based programming language and could have been used as well; however, because of NetLogo's user-friendly interface and preloaded GUI, using NetLogo helped the team setup and accelerate the design modelling process. The representations consist of turtles, or mobile agents (representing floating algae cells in this simulation) and patches, or stationary agents (representing light distribution and the shape of the reactor) (NetLogo, 2018). An image of the graphical user interface is shown in Appendix 1.1, as well as a sample output. Results, which were exported in CSV format, were subsequently analyzed for the calculation of biomass output.

6.1 Design Assumptions

The following assumptions were made in creating this model. It is important to note that these assumptions simplify the system but add uncertainty to the output.

(1). Algal movement: The model assumes a uniform suspension of algae due to the sparge-induced mixing. The first model assumed a circular movement of the algae, which showed a phenomena known as clogging, or fouling of the light source. An algal mass (shown in Appendix 1.1-B) accumulated near the light source due to energy advantages. However, this was incongruous with the speculating mixing pattern provided by the CO_2 delivery system. Therefore, a random Brownian motion model of the algae cell representations was adopted, since this most likely was the effect of small gas bubbles hitting algae cells in random ways. However, this results in a model limitation; namely, that a uniform suspension of algae is maintained throughout the production time. For a more thorough discussion of the limitations of the modelling procedure, as well as the recommendations for improving the accuracy of the model, see section 6.4.3.

(2). Growth Relationships: All growth relations, coefficients and equations were found in the academic literature and incorporated directly in the models. These are referenced directly in each program script, and are summarized in Appendix 2.

(3). Cell population representation: Due to agent limitations in NetLogo, it is not tractable to monitor and count individual algae cells in the simulation. Therefore, representative model turtles were made to represent a programmer-defined number (in this case, 1 turtle was defined arbitrarily as $6.3*10^{6}$ cells to account for the initial concentration of 10^{5} cells/mL, as reported in accepted literature methods). Concentration calculations for turtle definition were calculated assuming that the two-dimensional model represented a 2 cm thick horizontal cross section of the reactor. The thickness observed was considered to be 2 cm since that is the height for which the helix makes half of a revolution, therefore a full revolution is complete since the system uses a double helix, hence the circular representation of light in the model. The biological implication of this assumption is that "colonies" of cells are formed and are partitioned as cells multiply. While *S*.

obliquus has been shown to display colony action (Lewis & McCourt, 2004), colonies of 6.3*10^6 cells would not exist in reality; a typical colony size for *S. obliquus* is under ten cells (Verschoor et al., 2009). However, this was a necessary simplification due to computational power limits. We predict that this is a conservative assumption, since less overall dispersion implies less light delivery to individual cells, and therefore we do not adjust for this in the model.

(4). Constant mixing distributions along length of reactor: For final biomass approximations, each horizontal cross section of the bioreactor was assumed to be representative of the average cross section. Therefore, a profile depending on height, differences in sparge speed, settling rates, etc. was not predicted. This is a simplification, because in reality, despite algal buoyancy, natural settling rates should occur (Samil et al., 2012). Additionally, since CO_2 from the sparge bubbles will dissolve into the growth medium, sparge velocity decreases lengthwise as it rises through liquid, which should increase settling rates, and potentially decrease photosynthetic rates due to carbon availability problems. However, a study by Sanchez Miron et al. (1999) observed the evolution of mixing efficiency by bubble sparging with the height of a column bioreactor. As is explained in section 5.4, the height of the cylinder was restricted to 1 m as this was the maximum height before a significant drop in efficiency could be observed. Therefore, it is reasonable to assume that the mixing will remain constant throughout the length of the reactor and the modeled cross section can be considered representative of the entire cylinder.

(5). Wastewater and nutrients: The model presented does not directly address the role of nutrients in the growing medium on the rate of photosynthesis. Although the principal objective of this project is to serve as a nutrient removal mechanism, for the modelling of the algae growth, an ideal mixture of nutrients is assumed, and therefore, nutrient dependence is neglected. This has obvious limitations, including the omission of the nutrients' roles in reaching a realistic carrying capacity. To adjust for this, however, the data is subsequently compared to experiments in real wastewater settings, both to estimate total removal of nutrients, and to judge the level of uncertainty presented by this assumption. Furthermore, the role of CO_2 in photosynthetic growth is also omitted from the model. This is considered an acceptable omission, however, because the sparge system is designed to maintain a constant pH, the carbon availability can be assumed to be sufficient for the required photosynthetic demands of the growing algae populations.

(6). Absorptivity limited to chlorophyll content: Using the Beer-Lambert law for absorption of light requires using molarity coefficients for the substances being studied. In the case of algal cells, a molarity coefficient could not be determined as the dimensions of the cell exceed the molar realm. A study by Rinanti (2016) observed that the maximum chlorophyll content for *S. obliquus* was of 0.25 mg/L for a cell concentration of $0.37*10^9$ cells/L. Adding on, the molar extinction coefficient for chlorophyll had been studied by Griffiths (1978), and this coefficient had already been used in the case of *S. obliquus* in previous research (Urbig et al., 1995). Therefore, the molar extinction coefficient used in our Beer-Lambert calculations was that of chlorophyll, so our algal concentration of turbidity effects of cell concentrations, since there are many cell structures and other suspended solids which affect light absorption. Therefore, two additional coefficients

were added to the chlorophyll attenuation coefficient, in the model representing the effects of nutrient solution (only phosphorus in water considered) and the effects of the cells themselves. The calculations for these coefficients are summarized in Appendix 2.

(7). Photosynthetic efficiency: Although algae absorbs a considerable quantity of photons, not all of it is converted to energy or biomass. Photosynthetic efficiency is largely dependent on the conditions of the environment the algae is growing in. A study by de Marchin et al. (2015) measured photosynthetic efficiency of *S. obliquus* in environments differing with regards to carbon dioxide availability. A photosynthetic efficiency of 5% was observed under CO_2 conditions. This value was therefore used in our modified Beer-Lambert law to represent more accurate growth rates in NetLogo by accounting for the fact that not all light absorbed would serve as energy for the algae. The photosynthetic efficiency differs significantly between algae and terrestrial plants and can be used as a reason to focus on algae for biomass production. In fact, terrestrial plants' efficiency remains around 2% whereas algal strains can have efficiencies up to 8% (Anyanwu et al., 2018).

6.2. Description of Model

6.2.1. Algal Reproduction and Growth Dynamics

Algae reproduction in the NetLogo model did not adhere to traditional population dynamics models such as Monod or Lotka-Volterra models because of the nature of the agentbased programming. In order to reproduce in this program, the turtles, representing algae, accumulate energy at each time step, referred to here as "ticks." In each iterative cycle, the turtles are associated to an energy level depending on the light intensity of the patch at each turtle's location. An arbitrary number of energy "points" were selected (in this case, 90 points), to indicate the energy level at which the algal cell could divide. Since ticks are also an arbitrary time unit, all these parameters were adjusted later to growth characteristics in similar conditions and environments. A discussion of the limitations and uncertainties are discussed further in Section 6.4.3. However, despite the uncertainties associated with this modelling process, the user control should account for some inaccuracies presented by this method. First, the method of fitting the data to calculate the number of ticks needed to solve for a real-life doubling time (DT), see section 6.2.2 for more details.

Second, the ratio of reproduction-to-death rate has been explored in the literature to ensure that growth dynamics are accounted for in the model. According to Lurling (2003), a mother cell will undergo n = 3 or 4 successive division cycles, yielding 2-16 daughter cells. Therefore, in our model, it is assumed that the reproduction rate is 4 times that of the death rate. Regardless of the true lifespan of an algal cell, the overall effect is assumed to be 4 cells reproduced to one dying cell. This is a simplistic approach, since it also does not consider other causes for slowing reproduction rates including nutrient limitations and genetic mutations. Additionally, it assumes

that reproduction occurs in a very short time period directly prior to death. In reality, the interphase in the cell's reproductive cycle could be much longer proportionally than what was assumed in the model, since cell reproduction is not only dependent on the amount of photosynthetic energy it accumulates. Therefore, while this is an approach which can give a simplistic overview of the cell reproduction relationships in real algae, there are clear limitations to the approach. The uncertainties and inaccuracies of these calculations can only be explored through further research and real experimentation. Thus, biomass productivities, while in a reasonable range according to existing experiments, are not conclusive and must be further investigated to indicate the viability and true efficiency of the project. In future sections, these limitations and uncertainties will be mentioned and discussed, but all further calculations, assumptions, etc. will be based off the output of the model for a sample analysis approach and tentative validation for the purpose of this report.

6.2.2 Time Definition

The time variable in NetLogo is a measure of the number of times the code has been run. The unit used is a tick, so a one tick increase implies that the entirety of the code has been run once. The time variable of the model was initially undefined and needed to be related to existing experiments for the model to be representative of our own experiment. Two different techniques were used to create an appropriate relation between biological time and ticks.

Firstly, the doubling rate of the model was to be calculated so that it could then be related to the doubling rate of existing experiments in similar conditions. The doubling rate is highly dependent on experimental conditions so there is some inaccuracy associated with using other experimental data to represent our own. However, multiple papers focused on the doubling rate of *S. obliquus* grown in photobioreactors and carbon dioxide influx, so these papers were used as a reference for the expected doubling time of *S. obliquus*. A study by de Morais and Costa (2007) studied more in-depth the maximum specific growth rate of this strain but also provided the equation in Appendix 2.3 for doubling rate dependent on maximum specific growth rate. From this paper, an expected doubling time of 15.825 hours was determined. Adding on, a paper by Celekli et al. (2008) took a similar approach by studying the maximum specific growth rate as well and providing the same equation. The determined doubling time of 16 hours was used for the remainder of the time calculations. So, over the duration of the experiment, a total of 2.3 days or 55.2 hours, the algal concentration should double approximately 3.45 times.

To obtain the doubling time from the model, in ticks, the equation for generation time was used, as it is defined in microbiology as the time for a cell concentration to double, it can be found in Appendix 2.4. This equation could then be used for every data point at each tick. However, as the ticks increased the doubling time changed as well since algal growth is not linear. This creates uncertainty in the doubling time, as it depends on when the simulation is stopped. For the five replicates studied, it was decided that the simulation would stop once the growth curve began taking its linear shape, which it then maintained until saturation. This occurred at around 90 ticks. This is an arbitrary decision; if it had been decided that we were to study the growth rate until it plateaus, the results for doubling time would have been much higher and therefore, the output concentration would have increased as well. The average doubling time observed for the five replicates was then 10.5 ticks.

Therefore, since the algal concentration would double 3.45 times throughout the experiment and one doubling time took 10.5 ticks to complete, the experiment would last a total of 36.25 ticks, so a total of 37 ticks were used to complete the experiment in the simulation. The relation between time and ticks was as follows: 0.6566 ticks = 1 hour.

To verify that the definition of time for our model was appropriate, the curve obtained, with the x-axis now defined, was matched to *S. obliquus* growth curves from existing experiments in the literature. These are analyzed and shown in greater detail in Section 6.3. Although the curve for our design seemed to have a steeper slope than that of actual experiments, the concentration within the timeframe was reasonable. The curves were therefore not a very accurate match, but it could be concluded from the graphs that the time associated with our growth curve was appropriate. This helped verify the relation between ticks and time for our design, as mentioned above. Also, it helps support the assumption that stopping the simulation as soon as the curve begins increasing linearly was not unreasonable to make for the design.

6.2.3. Light Evolution

Our model encompasses important structural designs as well as light diffusivity and fluid flow considerations. The main goal that this design strives to achieve is the optimization of light diffusivity in an algal photobioreactor. This means that the lighting structure should be able to provide the necessary amount of light for each algal cell to thrive in its environment, regardless of its distance to the light source. Therefore, the photobioreactor simulation was used to measure the efficiency of our lighting system on algal reproduction. Since nutrients were neglected in the simulation, algal reproduction was then only dependent on the availability of light in the system. This allowed us to focus more strongly on the lighting component of the system and its effect on algal cells.

The Beer-Lambert law was implemented in the energy uptake section of the model. Since the energy of a cell determined its ability to duplicate, it was only dependent on the light that the cell could absorb. The Beer-Lambert law consists in measuring the evolution of light intensity with respect to the material located in the light path. The decline of light intensity of a material is an indication of light being absorbed by that material. This law was crucial in the development of the model as the evolution of light and the evolution of algal cells were both dependent on each other. Therefore, in the implementation of this equation in the model, both light intensity and algal concentrations were variable and changed with time in the simulation. The calculations for the explicit formula used in the simulation can be obtained in Appendix 2.2. The initial light intensity was fixed at 150 μ mol/m²/s, as it was determined to be the optimal irradiance for *S. obliquus*. The path length of light was determined depending on the location of the algal cell and its distance from the light source. The molar attenuation coefficient was determined based off published literature as previously mentioned in Section 6.1.

This equation was used to determine the amount of light that is absorbed by each cell in the model. Since recalculating the light intensity for each patch in the cylinder at every tick would have significantly slowed down the simulation, the equation was not used to change the representation of light in the model. However, implementing the equation at the algal energy level allowed for the energy uptake of algae to act as if the light level was evolving with time. The light intensity therefore varies with the algal concentration at t-1 and the algal concentration varies with light intensity at t. The overall equation was then multiplied by the photosynthetic efficiency coefficient. This allowed for the equation to more accurately represent the actual value of light that would be converted to biomass.

Therefore, the Beer-Lambert law was used to represent the variation of light intensity in the model due to algal concentration. Since light was the only component affecting algal growth, this law was used to measure the exact amount of light being absorbed that could then be converted to energy and biomass.

6.2.4. Preliminary Mixing Study

A secondary, physical study was conducted in the COMSOL Multiphysics program to verify if the assumption 4 in Section 6.1 (that mixing is uniform across the length of the reactor) is a reasonable assumption. An array of sparge holes on the bottom of a reactor was represented by a linear array along a 2D axisymmetric geometry. An inlet velocity of 5 cm/s was used in a water tank. Reaction of species was neglected, as was interference from the light geometry (See Section 5.4). The steady state velocity profile is shown in Appendix 5.1. The study showed that the velocity of mixing was not entirely uniform over the length of the reactor. However, this may not have significant effects on true photosynthetic efficiencies of the algae. To verify this, more studies may be conducted which consider diffusion of the bicarbonate ions within the reactor, and by assessing buoyancy of *S. obliquus* and the effects of the existing velocity profile on settling rates. Furthermore, a sweep of inlet velocities and sparge plate distribution can also be implemented to determine if a higher sparge velocity can be implemented without causing turbulent flow.

6.3 Design Model Results

6.3.1 Simulation Output

The simulated experiments were run five times. The average values of these five experiments are plotted in Figure 2 shown. Error bars on the graph were added based on the standard deviation between experiments (Note that this is not related to true experimental variation). Since the experiments were run with set initial values, but there was stochastic variability in spatial distribution of the colonies, the error bars increase, as expected. This reflects uncertainty in all systems subject to random phenomena and movement, and cannot be controlled in simulation or reality. The resultant curve had significantly more linear behavior than expected; however, it is important to note that due to software limitations, death counts are not included in the output. Therefore, true biomass as determined by the model (not experimental) is higher than in the reported output.



Fig. 2. Average simulated output of cells over 72 hours. Note that the proposed system would run for 55.2 hours but a higher time was added for reference.

6.3.2. Biomass Production

The production of biomass from the photobioreactor design was one of the principal components set for this innovative design to increase. In fact, if the device could maximize biomass production, this could then be sold to external companies in various sectors that are interested in converting plant biomass into useful by-products such as biofuel. Although microalgae biomass is relatively cheap on the market, it can still provide a significant new revenue if it can be sold over the long-term. This would not be applicable in the laboratory setting, but if a similar system were to be implemented on an industrial scale, this would be a significant consideration.

From the five replicate curves representative of the design's efficacy, it was possible to determine the final concentration of algae at the end of each batch. From the tick-time relation, it

is possible to determine the final time of the experiment as being 37 ticks. Over the five replicated experiments, the average output at 37 ticks was of 161.6 algal dots, the equivalent of $1.02*10^9$ for the volume of one cross section. This is slightly less than a log 2 increase from the initial concentration, which was of $6.28*10^7$ cells in the volume of one cross section. Therefore, over the course of the experiment, over 2.3 days, approximately $9.57*10^8$ new algal cells are hatched in the 628 mL volume of the cross section. This also takes into consideration the algal cells that have already died, since their biomass could still be used in the conversion to secondary by-products. These results can be computed for the cylinder as a whole. With a height of 1 m and a diameter of 20 cm, the cylindrical bioreactor holds a volume of 31.4 L. Considering the volume of a cross section, there are exactly 50 cross sections in one cylinder. So the total initial concentration of algal cells becomes $3.14*10^9$ and the total final concentration becomes $5.11*10^{10}$ cells.

The overall final weight of biomass produced can be computed, since biomass is sold on a per dry weight basis. The dry weight of *S. obliquus* cells was obtained from a study by Hodaifa et al. (2013) to be 37 pg/cell. So, using our final concentration, we find that the final biomass output of our design would reach 1890 mg, or 1.89 g. The final biomass output can be written as 0.06 g/L. From the calculation in Section 5.4, the expected output for the design to prove successful would have required 4 g/L to be produced, as this was the goal set for this design. This is significantly higher than the obtained output, which indicates that this design does not provide sufficient biomass for it to be more successful than existing designs. Possibilities to improve on this will be discussed more in-depth in later sections, but include increasing the input concentration of algae or increasing the length of the experiments.

6.3.3. Nutrient Removal

One of the major goals of this design was to accomplish successful removal of nutrients in wastewater, which through more academic and industrial research and development, could in the long term provide municipalities with a clean device that would supply cleaner water. However, the model used to simulate the design does not take into account nutrients. This decision was made in order to simplify the model and focus more strongly on algal growth. The final algal concentration could then be simply related back to nutrient removal later.

In Canada, strict governmental and municipal regulations were put in place to oversee that no contaminated water is discharged into natural environments. Most of the wastewater is able to be transported to wastewater treatment plants to undergo thorough decontamination processes before being discharged and reused. The Canadian Environmental Protection Act of 1999 regulates the concentration of toxic substances such as nutrients in wastewater effluent. However, the report by Chambers et al. (1997) provides more descriptive quantities of each component in wastewater. Although this is a report from over two decades ago, it has been archived by the Government of Canada and was last reviewed in March 2019. The concentrations provided were therefore used as references for this design report. From the paper by Chambers et al., the effluent concentration of phosphorus is limited to 0.5 mg/L, for treatment plants in Quebec. It was decided earlier on in the design process that the nutrient removal would mostly focus on phosphorus, since this is the limiting nutrient for growth, and also the nutrient with the most intensive regulations in Canada. Phosphorus is also usually removed from wastewater with less efficacy than nitrogen, since nitrogen can be removed through a variety of mechanisms including biological sequestration and volatilization as ammonia (Wang et al., 2016).

Our calculations were adapted from the work by Martinez et al. (2000), since their experimental setup was similar to our design in the way that they worked with *S. obliquus* in a cylindrical bioreactor with air bubbling for mixing to treat wastewater. The doubling time that they reported (15.8 hours) was very close to that which we assumed for our model. Martinez et al. provided data about the initial phosphorus concentration in the wastewater used, which was of 135 μ mol/L or 12.8 mg/L. This was helpful in the evaluation of our own design. They also provided a conversion rate of phosphorus to biomass to be 1.53 mg-biomass/ μ mol-P. Therefore, with a final phosphorus concentration requirement of 0.5 mg/L or 5 μ mol/L, the experiment should produce 199 mg of algal biomass for the design to be considered successful regarding nutrient removal efficacy. These results are explained by more in-depth calculations in Appendix 2.5.

In fact, the biomass produced can be simply calculated by taking the difference between final and initial algal concentration in the bioreactor and adjusting this value with the dry weight of the cells. The total dry weight of biomass produced is then 1.77 g or 1770 mg, as seen in Appendix 2.6. This is almost nine times more than the necessary dry weight required to filter out the phosphorus to a concentration below that provided in Canadian regulations for Quebec. Therefore, the design can be considered very successful at nutrient removal of phosphorus and it can be assumed with some degree of confidence that the phosphorus levels in effluent water will be well below that of the governmental policies. However, this may also be considered as a limitation for our design, since the algae may run out of phosphorus early on, which would limit its growth before the end of the 2.3 day batch.

6.4. Analysis of Design Output

6.4.1. Evolution of Design Factors

The model of the photobioreactor design focused on two major components: light intensity and cell density. These two factors are related, as light intensity will diminish with increasing cell density, and cell growth will slow and eventually plateau with decreasing light intensity. Since the design's main goal was to maximize final cell density, as this increases biomass for by-products as well as the nutrient removal rate, it was necessary to closely monitor the light level during the simulations. As previously mentioned, the light intensity evolved following the Beer-Lambert law adjusted to represent our design parameters. Since the experiments only last for a duration of 2.3 days or slightly over 55 hours, it was not expected that the lighting would be entirely blocked out by the increasing algal density. As can be observed in Fig. 3, the light intensity does decrease with time and algal concentration, but this is not extremely significant, especially since this is the light level measured at the edges of the bioreactor. Even if the experiment were to last much longer, cell density would still have a relatively low impact on light intensity. However, it may be possible to explain this result with the assumptions that were made during modeling, for example the fact that the nutrients are not represented or that the algal absorptivity is restricted to chlorophyll content with a few other simplified factors (cell structure and dilute aqueous solution). This result seems to indicate that the cell density would be able to grow without being limited by light, and that the nutrient content may be the limiting factor for algal growth in this system.

Algal growth is the determinant factor of our design, since the reactor should be able to create a hospitable environment for *S. obliquus* cells to proliferate. From Fig. 3 and the results mentioned in previous sections, the algal cells were clearly able to reproduce and multiply at a rapid pace. The lag phase that normally occurs during cell growth is almost nonexistent as they begin growing exponentially almost immediately. The curve used to represent cell growth in Fig. 2 is an exponential model that best fit the actual data, with a coefficient of determination of 0.867. If the experiment were to last longer under the same conditions, the algae would continue



reproducing until the turbidity eventually affected lighting. In the simulation, this occurred at approximately 375 ticks. However, as mentioned in section 6.3.4., nutrient uptake appeared to be very efficient and would become a limiting factor before the lighting system. Since the goal of this design focused on improving lighting systems in photobioreactors, these results support the proposed lighting structure.

Figure 3. Evolution of algal concentration and light intensity with time in a 1/50th representation of the proposed photobioreactor design

6.4.2. Scale-Up Considerations

The timeframe for the design development unfortunately did not allow for an in-depth study and model of a scaled-up proposed design. Some points were still considered throughout the design process so that this design could potentially benefit not only lab-scale research but also the industry and wastewater treatment facilities.

The two main factors that could be modified in the proposed design are the height and the diameter of the bioreactor. One of the main difficulties in increasing either of those dimensions comes from the mixing system. In fact, the height of the proposed design was limited to 1 m because that was the maximum length that would not decrease growth efficiency. If the height of the cylinder were to be increased, it would be necessary to perform an in-depth fluid motion study in order to quantify the decrease in efficiency and to measure a reasonable margin for the height increase before a significant decrease in efficiency would occur. Another possibility would be to increase height and introduce a second air sparging mechanism at the middle of bioreactor. An additional sieve would then also be required to break down the air into bubbles and spread them out over the bioreactor's diameter.

Expanding the diameter of the bioreactor would appear as a simpler way to increase the volume treated. The difficulty that would arise from increasing the diameter is the need for an adequate repartition of air bubbles throughout. One sieve to break up the sparged air into bubbles would probably not be sufficient to provide adequate mixing over the entire diameter. To account for this, a possibility would be to create multiple air sparging vents at the bottom of the cylinder instead of only one so that the bubbles would cover the entire diameter once broken up by the sieve. Adding on, a diameter increase would also affect the lighting inside the bioreactor since, as mentioned in Section 5.4, a distance of 5 cm is optimal for the lighting to provide energy to the algal cells. Increasing this distance would cause light to become limiting for algal growth. However, this could be solved by installing a second, or multiple, light structures in a similar manner as the one currently used but with a larger diameter. This approach was slightly studied on NetLogo but the software was not powerful enough to simulate two different light sources as the light rings would create interference and the lighting would therefore not be represented accurately.

There are various possibilities and approaches to increase the volume that could be treated in this photobioreactor to meet industry demand. However, more thorough research and testing on the proposed considerations are required to analyze these possibilities. Modeling would be an appropriate tool to perform these tests, but the software required would need to be more powerful than NetLogo to simulate fluid flow and multiple lightings.

6.4.3. Design Limitations

Several limitations to the design have been mentioned throughout the modelling process reporting; these limitations are important to consider in all models, including that of this proposed design because the model cannot be confused with reality. One of the largest limitations to the modelling approach reported, is the lack of validation against real systems. Because of the variability in methodology in experimental reports in academic literature, it is not possible to find relationships between growth parameters that are completely representative of the proposed design. The only true way to verify and validate the design is through controlled experimentation of the proposed design. Therefore, all reported results and calculations can only be viewed as tentative.

Moreover, the assumptions stated in Section 6.1 are all simplifications which were required for the modelling process because of computational and knowledgebase limitations. All assumptions, therefore, added to uncertainty and inaccuracies in growth projections. For instance, Assumption 1, which states that algal movement represented a uniform suspension, neglects that biological organisms have adaptive strategies which add uncertainty in the behavior of the suspended cells. One of these adaptive behaviors which could affect the efficacy of our system is the cells' adaptation to light. A study conducted at the Max Planck Institute for Dynamics and Self-Organization reported that green algae have the ability to detach their flagella (the appendage which serves as the cell's propulsion mechanism) in the presence of light. This results in of the algal adhesion to a surface closest to the light (Kreis et al., 2018). The proposed system in this case, would not deliver light in the expected way because of light clogging. The client had mentioned this phenomenon, which served as the basis for the mixing system and light distribution proposal. However, this would likely still be a challenge in a real system. Kreis et al. (2018) suggested that specialized lighting systems which suppress this adhesion response could be a solution. Using exclusively red light, for example, reduced adhesion phenomena, but also reduced photosynthetic rates. The research also suggested the use of algae with modified blue light photoreceptors in the presence of blue light; however, this is out of the scope of this design.

Assumptions about the time definition mentioned in 6.2.2, as well as the omission of nutrients in the light and energy model in NetLogo also have the potential for adding substantial error to the projected outputs, since both of these assumptions together imply a system which does not limit cell growth in any way besides with light intensity. This is known to be inaccurate. Factors such as nutrient levels are key to the determination of carrying capacity of a biological system. Additionally, certain other unforeseen phenomena could prove to be detrimental to the system. For instance, it has been shown that nitrates have the tendency to form ammonia in aqueous systems. Ammonia inhibits cells' ability to take up N-compounds, therefore limiting their ability to grow and reproduce. High-ammonia solutions are also more likely to be toxic for most species of algae. This can be controlled by keeping temperatures lower to prevent the nitrate-ammonia reaction from happening at a high rate (Wang et al., 2016). However, the lowering of the temperature could also reduce growth rates of algae (Kligerman et al., 2015).

Limitations to the design itself include those associated with vessel reactors. In general, vessel reactors have low surface area-to-volume ratios, and therefore tend to have less efficient light and mixing distributions. This was a payoff which was deemed acceptable for this design because of the low space requirement, lower manufacturing cost and the specialized lighting design. In addition, since the bubble reactor was designed with maximum dimensions for gas holdup and velocity distribution in mind, increasing dimensions in case of scaleup needs will also

require additional systems to offset inefficiencies and poorer sparge characteristics with increasing volumes. Because of the client specifications, however, the design limitations, though important to consider, were not significant enough for extreme modifications to the proposed design. Further design inefficiencies may be observed upon testing a real prototype. Thus, the design cycle cannot be considered complete in its entirety until it has been fully investigated and optimized in real laboratory settings.

6.5. Refinement of Preliminary Design

Throughout the design process, we kept in mind that although our preliminary analysis of photobioreactor designs had yielded a theoretical advantageous new design, the testing phase would be a crucial step in the validation of this design. The choice of computational simulating over building the prototype came from the short timeframe, the budget and the lack of experience in manufacturing this type of device. Although models are never accurate representations, their appropriate use can prove very useful in creating predictions, all the while keeping in mind their limitations. The benefits of having used simulation methods mainly revolve around the possibility to test out various dimensions and to redesign the device after testing to improve on its efficacy based on observed results.

We were able to simulate multiple designs of photobioreactors, especially looking at the lighting structure and the mixing component. Regarding the mixing aspect of the design, we decided initially to use bubble sparging because it seemed more efficient, as it both mixes the solution and delivers carbon dioxide gas for the algae. In our model, we simulated both swirling and bubble sparging to compare the results. When the swirling method was used, it was clear in the simulation that the algae near the edges of the cylinder were dying off almost immediately and the surviving algae proliferated, causing the algae to agglomerate at the light source. This was to be expected, at least partially, from the design, since this biofilm formation at light sources has been a source of decreased photobioreactor efficiencies. When the bubble sparging method was used, the mixing was much more efficient, and there was a much more homogeneous distribution of the algae around the cylinder, making the use of its space more cost efficient. The use of bubble sparging was therefore an appropriate choice for our photobioreactor's design. Not only does it provide the algae with a more even distribution of light, but it also allows the algae to occupy more space and therefore have access to more nutrients as well. We predict that the implementation of bubble sparging in our photobioreactor will greatly increase its overall efficiency both at the biomass production level and at the wastewater treatment level.

6.5.1 Light Gradient Design

The primary project approach was to optimize light distribution to ensure better energy access to cells throughout the cylindrical volume of the reactor. Thus, it was a crucial step to verify that the placement of the light source was adequate and maximized the amount of energy input for

a uniform light distribution. The lighting system was optimized and verified for the design using two approaches: the physical and the biological approaches.

In the biological approach, the principal NetLogo code was executed for nine different placements of light rings, which was achieved by changing the radius of the light source. This also assumes that the light source has an equal initial light intensity (150 µmol photons/m²); however, the material used in the reactor is not considered, and therefore, effects of reflection or absorptivity of glass are not considered. The graphs of three configurations of light within the same reactor are shown in Fig. 4, with the curves of real experimental data in existing laboratory photobioreactors form the literature graphed for reference. Since all parameters are kept completely constant for both the biological and physical lighting validation studies, these can serve as a more certain comparison of different systems than simply comparing the model output to experimental data. Despite lack of controlled protocols in the scientific literature, therefore, a relative assessment of different systems can be made with a higher degree of certainty.



Figure 4. A comparison of three light configurations with existing literature results.

Blue dots: Helical internal lighting (r = 5 cm); Orange dots: External uniform lighting source; Gray dots: Central light rod (r = 1 cm); Yellow curve: Experimental data from Arbib et al. (2013). Light blue curve: Experimental data from Gris et al. (2014); Green curve: Experimental data from Krzeminska et al. (2014).

Each curve produced a similar growth curve overall, although they did not all reach the same final concentration. However, the curves for each systems did vary slightly: the helical structure provided a sigmoid curve, similar to that of the the central rod lighting. However, its sigmoid plateaued sooner at a lower concentration, and the outer lighting created a step-like function. Additionally, the helical ring system was able to reach a higher final concentration of algae than both other methods tested, being larger than the central rod results and the outer lighting results by 19% and 15% respectively. This is significant result as it highlights the benefits of our own novel lighting structure in comparison to existing lighting systems. By providing a more efficient algal growth, the helical lighting structure allows for a higher biomass production rate and a more efficient nutrient removal and wastewater treatment rate.

In Fig. 5, the final concentrations of the nine experiments are graphed to compare the effectiveness of each configuration. It can be observed that the chosen radius of the internal light source is maximized at the proposed solution of 5 cm. Although there is variation in results and some error (seen especially clearly for r=0.25 and r=1.25 cm), there is an overall trend which indicates that a medium radius tends to have better light distribution, and therefore better algae output.



Figure 5. The final output of the nine experiments for different light radii are shown. The numbers recorded or relative, but represent cell count in the cross sectional area discussed, with an initial concentration of $5*10^6$ cells/mL in total. This was chosen as an initial concentration for ease of comparison with experimental data, which frequently start with that initial concentration.

In the physical approach, MATLAB was used to map light distribution in the absence of algae (in water only) in a horizontal cross section of three separate reactor configurations: (1) the reactor is made of a transparent shell (glass or plastic) and is exposed to a lighting source externally. This can either represent a simplistic model of natural light (in reality, the light distribution would be less uniform and subject to change throughout the day), or a more controlled lighting source in a laboratory setting. (2) the reactor is made of stainless steel, as proposed, and is exposed to a central light rod with no geometrical complications. (3) the reactor is made of stainless steel as proposed, and is exposed to light emanating from the helical lighting structure in both directions (as proposed). The coefficients of extinction, reflection factors, and equations were found in the work of Jonasz & Fournier (2007). For a full summary of the calculations and programming approaches, see Appendix 2. The output of distribution is shown in a three dimensional plot in Fig. 6.



Figure 6. The output of simulated light distribution for three light configurations in water, each exposed to an initial intensity of 150 μ mol photons/m². (A) An even distribution of light is applied externally from a transparent glass reactor. (B) The light distribution is provided by the proposed helical lighting system. (C). An internal light rod is placed at the center of the reactor. Though the distribution makes a negligible difference, in water, it can be seen that the distribution is more even and and provides overall higher light intensity across the reactor in configuration B.

6.5.2 Sparge Velocity and Reactor Dimensions

The length of the bioreactor was mainly affected by bubble sparging because the bubbles dissolve with the increasing height of the bioreactor, as observed from previous research by Sanchez Miron et al. (1999). Therefore, the longest possible length at 1 m was chosen. For the diameter of the cylinder, the main component that would restrict its expansion would be the lighting system. From our model, we obtained sufficient data to support the selected diameter of 20 cm. The growth curve and final concentration is appropriate for the volume of water being cleaned and provides a biomass output that nears the goal that our team set out last semester of 4 kg.m-3 per batch in 2.3 days. Expanding the diameter of the cylinder would increase the volume of water that can be filtered per batch but would decrease the final algal concentration and would be considered less cost efficient since the space at the edges would be significantly darker than other areas within the cylinder and the algae would then not be accumulating any biomass in those regions, nor would they be taking up nutrients.

7.0. Final Design

7.1. Manufacturability and Economic Analysis

7.1.1 Functional Description of Reactor Subcomponents

The following is a general overview of key components that are central to the functionality of the reactor. While it lists the most crucial parts, it is not a comprehensive overview of all required components. CAD sketches of some of the subcomponents are provided in Appendix 1.2. It is important to note that this cannot serve as a manufacturing manual, and merely details physical functions within the system.

Reactor body: The body of the reactor is a vessel-type reactor, which consists of a cylindrical central body with a high volume-to-surface area ratio. Vessel-type reactors have advantages and disadvantages which must be considered in the creation of photobioreactors. The main advantages, which were ultimately considered the most important, are the low cost of manufacturing, ease of cleaning, and small space requirement for the output volume. The structure is a simple cylindrical tank with 5 mm thickness, that is covered in an insulating material for thermal conservation. This insulating material is not extremely significant, since the reactor is to run at 20°C. However, a layer of fabric can be used to reduce heat loss. The cylindrical body has a few features, including an bottom plate which is perforated with an array of sparge holes 5 mm in diameter, and 1 cm apart. The perforations are interrupted by an out-jutting groove which secures the lighting system frame (six steel rods, 1 cm thick; 1 m long). Beneath the sparge plate is a funnel-like structure which connects to a flow pipe 5 cm in diameter. The top of the reactor is closed, with a small opening sealed with a sterile filter tube leading to the fume hood of the laboratory. This is a safety precaution, since this prevents pressure buildup within the reactor, and allows exhaust gas to exit the lab space without any risk to the workers in proximity. The entire system can be disassembled, to allow for quick and simple cleaning, sterilization and loading. This is an important consideration, since easy maintenance can improve overall reactor efficiency over time, and can also prevent contamination of sample. In addition, worn components or broken parts can easily be replaced without replacing the entire system.

Lighting structure: The lighting structure is best described as a "double helix" of double-sided, waterproof LED strip lights. The double-helices were chosen for two reasons: (1) a light irradiance can be implemented in two normal directions, rather than for most systems, in which light can only radiate outwards in one normal direction. (2) The helix, though a seemingly complicated geometry, helps to simplify the wiring of the lighting system to an electrical input. This is important for safety reasons and for cost minimization. By mounting the lights on the 6-rod framework mentioned in the reactor body description above, the continuous strip lights can run through the entire reactor

length without interruption. In addition, this system can be easily removed from the reactor body for cleaning and sterilization between batches.

Sparge system: The sparge system must consist of a control valve, which modulates the flow and mixing of concentrated carbon dioxide with sterile ambient air. This control system must use a data acquisition system (DAQ), in which the pH sensor attached to the system provides data for how much CO₂ must be mixed into the gas mixture to maintain a neutral pH. The system should also take safety measures into account as per laboratory protocols. A control valve and the control system requirements have been considered in 7.1.2. However, due to time constraints, this aspect of the project is considered for the most part out of the scope of this project, and thus, a researcher planning on building this sparge system would have to implement the controls using their own design.

7.1.2. Control System Considerations

Many parameters affect the design and its efficiency so it is necessary to monitor them as precisely as possible to maintain optimal functioning of the design. It was decided that two sensors were necessary to monitor appropriately the design parameters, these were a turbidity sensor and a pH/temperature sensor.

The turbidity sensor was crucial for the control of the design since it is able to detect and monitor the level of suspended particles in water. The Gravity analog turbidity sensor in particular was chosen because it specified that it could be used in rivers and streams, which indicates that it is appropriate to use in an environment with fluid motion. It also specified that the threshold level could be changed. So, calculations could be performed using the model to find the duration of the experiment as well as the cell density at which the light level becomes too dim to provide the cells with sufficient energy for growth and reproduction. The sensor could then indicate that the output concentration of algae has been reached and that it is necessary to either increase the light level inside the reactor or to end the experiment, since the efficiency will decrease rapidly.

The pH meter from Extech instruments would be an important addition to the design since it is able to monitor pH and temperature in water. The need to control the pH of the solution comes from the fact that the pH is an indication of the availability of carbon dioxide for algae. As the algal cells take up carbon dioxide, it is necessary to introduce more into the system and this can be done through carbon dioxide-supplemented air sparging. The use of the pH meter will therefore help control and monitor the carbon dioxide levels in the system. As the cell concentration increases, the carbon dioxide requirements will increase as well and this will be observed through a change in pH. It can then be immediately remediated through an increase of the carbon dioxide level in the air being sparged into the system. These two sensors will therefore serve as the main control system for the bioreactor and will help maintain an optimal environment to benefit algal growth.

7.1.3. Economic Analysis of Design Implementation

An economic analysis of the design was necessary to assess its economic viability. The cost of each material was looked into thoroughly in Appendix 4, as well as the potential labor and maintenance costs. A long-term analysis was also carried out to determine the potential monetary yield from this design. The overall costs and revenues associated with the design are described in Table 3.

The economic efficiency of this design was compared to the one currently used in our client's laboratory. Currently, Mr. Loganathan is using Dr. Lefsrud's photobioreactor which is able to hold a volume of 15L per batch, whereas this design could hold a total volume of almost 42L. This increase in volume would allow our client to use larger quantities of wastewater and produce a higher biomass yield. The manufacturing costs of Mr. Loganathan's photobioreactor amounted to a total of 14,000 CAD. From section 5.4.1, this design is expected to cost a total of 1,400 CAD to manufacture. This is a log one reduction in cost and almost a threefold increase in volume, which represents significant savings for the client.

If after further research, results indicate that scaling up the design is a possibility, it would potentially lead to substantial savings for wastewater treatment facilities. In fact, the Canadian government currently offers a variety of funding or grant opportunities for facilities that are making an effort in using clean technologies. Some examples of these opportunities include the 'Clean Growth Program', the 'Emerging Power Renewable Program' and the 'Sustainable Development Technology Fund'. There are additional province-specific programs that aim to fund these facilities as well (Government of Canada, 2018). Adding on, the large-scale design could yield a much higher biomass output, enabling the facility to sell a reasonable amount of algal biomass to industries looking to convert it into a useful product. The cost of algal biomass is relatively high at approximately 650 CAD/ton (Davis et al., 2016). Although it was observed that for lab-scale production selling the biomass output.

By calculating the net present value and internal rate of return of the design, it was clear that this design would not yield any monetary gain to the user. However, photobioreactors are usually never able to make profit since the design is initially quite expensive and it is a highly energy-consuming product. The main goal of this project was to lower the initial cost of manufacture of the design to make it more affordable to research laboratories. It was observed in the previous section that this goal had been achieved, assuming it all goes accordingly. Although it was very attractive to make this design profitable, no technique allows for photobioreactors to yield profits yet. Still, this design remains economically viable, even if not profitable, due to the significant reduction on investment.

Total Cost of Manufacture	1401.72
Total Cost of Operation and Maintenance *	380.290299
Total Profitability *	0.14926275
Net Present Value (5 years)	-2792.58957
Internal Rate of Return	-175%
* per year	

Table 3. Total costs and revenues associated with proposed photobioreactor design (in CAD)

7.2 Design Validation

7.2.1 Final Design Risk Assessment: Usability and Safety

To have a better overview of the risks associated with this design, it was necessary to carry out a thorough risk analysis. This provided insight on the various dangers associated with the design and allowed for a reflection on how these could be efficiently avoided or mitigated. Two major types of risks were observed: risks associated with design failure, and risks associated with worker harm. A design failure may lead to serious environmental or health consequences. Monitoring the system as a whole would be necessary to prevent this from happening. The risk of workers getting harmed could be caused by certain parts and components of the design, either due to improper handling or insufficient maintenance. However, this system was designed for ease of use by all employees. The following risk assessment matrix outlines the potential dangers of our design, by giving them a risk level from one to three corresponding to lowest potential and danger to highest potential and danger respectively.

Risk Factor	Risk Level	Contributing Factors	Mitigation Procedure
Insufficient nutrient removal	3	 Feedstock with higher nutrient concentration Inefficient nutrient uptake by algae 	 Testing output concentration before release Treat again if insufficient
Electrocution from lighting inside bioreactor	1	- Improper lighting set up or maintenance	 Certified electrician and/or plumber for installation Worker training Removable lighting structure for ease of use
Cross contamination	2	- Microbes from surrounding environment - Leak in bioreactor	- Closed system - Regular tests and maintenance
Worker exposure to waste contaminants	1	- Wastewater as feedstock	- Worker training
Acidic pH of media due to CO2 sparging	1	- CO2 input for algae photosynthetic growth	- Monitor pH and remove excess CO2 at output - Possibly add base
Accumulation of photosynthetic oxygen	1	- Oxygen as by-product of photosynthesis	- Output airflow at top of bioreactor
Working with pressurized gas	Working with 2 - Improper handling or s pressurized gas of gas cylinders		- Follow OSHA standards (1910.101) - Worker training
Potential leakage	1	- Equipment failure	- Changing components before the end of their life-expectancy

Table 4. Assessment Matrix Associated with photobioreactor design, including large-scale implications

The highest risk associated with our design would be insufficient nutrient removal. This could only be a problem if the design is implemented in a wastewater treatment facility, if the scaled up design is viable. However, from the results of the lab-scale design, the current parameters

and processes have shown that the algae is able to take up phosphorus efficiently and the effluent concentration should be well below that indicated in regulations, as long as the design is used properly. In the case of the industrial scale photobioreactor design, insufficient nutrient removal could result from a failure of the design or its inappropriate use and would have serious negative health effects on the community. However it can be mitigated by monitoring the system as a whole as well as testing the output water, and possibly reusing the output water as feedstock for another batch if the first treatment was insufficient. Although there are other smaller risks associated with this design, they should be easily avoided through continuous and thorough monitoring as well as careful handling of the system.

7.2.2. Final Design Life Cycle Analysis (LCA) Considerations

To assess the impact of the design manufacturing and long-term use, a preliminary life cycle analysis (LCA) was performed using previously recorded data and studies, as well as assumptions about the quantity of materials required for manufacturing the proposed design. It is recommended to consider the framework and working design when conducting a Life Cycle Analysis, so a modified version of the ISO 14044:2006 (E.) framework was used to guide the design's environmental thinking. A conceptual map of the overall treatment process was also created and is attached in Appendix 3 (a) of this report.

Data collected for the manufacturing of each subcomponent (reactor body, LED light strips, sensors, etc.) was compiled from the literature, as well as from the OpenLCA software database. Approximations of certain parameters, such as potential for global warming, human toxicity, eutrophication, and others (see Table 5 below), were calculated using the United States Environmental Protection Agency's Tool for the Reduction and Assessment of Chemicals and other environmental Impacts (U.S. EPA TRACI 2.1) as well as the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC)'s 2.10.2 Direct Global Warming Potentials data.

According to the International Standard for Environmental management -- Life Cycle Assessment guideline (ISO 14044, 2006), a full inventory of Life Cycle can only be achieved with data and monitoring. While some data is available through the literature, future tests of inputs, outputs and other components which are not yet materialized must be conducted in order to complete a full life cycle analysis. The simulation of the design was not sufficient to provide data for a complete LCA and building a prototype would be strongly recommended to study the system's environmental impact.

The calculations to approximate impact are represented using estimated amounts of subcomponents of the product. Note that only the reactor body has been considered, though influents and effluents, as well as accessories to the system will add complexity and increase the impact factors to the system. Impact factors considered were only the ones with the most

significant values according to the approximations and examples of other Life Cycle Analyses in the industry.

LED light approximations.

Using the U.S. Department of Energy's Life Cycle Assessment of Energy and Environmental Impacts of LED Lighting Products, the material content in an LED light was assumed to be a Mid-Power LED, with encapsulated packaging, and that the entire system would have a lifetime of approximately 13.7 years (U.S. Department of Energy, 2012). The strip LED was assumed to be made up of a square sapphire wafer substrate with side dimensions of 0.5 cm with gallium arsenide phosphide (corresponding to emission of red light) grown on top (U.S. Department of Energy, 2012). The process was simplified into a three-step process; namely, the substrate production, LED die fabrication, and packaging. The subprocesses are specified in Appendix 3 (b) of this report. Inputs are scaled from the Life Cycle Analysis according to our specifications as compared to the analysis referenced.

Stainless Steel body approximations.

Values for emissions and involved chemical components were taken from calculations reported by Itsubo & Inaba (2003). Fewer assumptions were made than for the LED lighting component due to fewer variations in the manufacturing processes. The sub-processes and calculations are specified in Appendix 3 (c) of this report.

Impact Category	Methodology	Approximate Value per Bioreactor Unit per year							
Subcomponent-Lighting component *Avg. Life: 13.7 years									
Cumulative Energy demand (kWh/year)	U.S. Dept. of Energy	13.98 (includes use per year and manufacturing)							
Ecotoxicity (CTU eco/comp, Emissions Fresh water C, freshwater)	TRACI 2.1; IPCC 2.10.2	326							
HH Particulate Air (PM 2.5 eq/ comp)	TRACI 2.1; IPCC 2.10.2	8.29*10 ⁻²							
Global Warming	TRACI 2.1; IPCC 2.10.2	Not enough information							
Human Health (CTU noncancer/comp, emission to urban air, non-cancerous)	TRACI 2.1; IPCC 2.10.2	7.6*10-4							
		*End of Life: Non-recyclable (80%)							
Subcomponent: Stainless Steel components (Reactor tank, p	iping) *Av	/g. Life: 30 years							
Cumulative Energy demand (kJ/year)	Dusart et al., 2011	0.011							
Ecotoxicity (CTU eco/comp, Emission fresh Water C, freshwater)	TRACI 2.1	3.00*10-5							
Eutrophication	TRACI 2.1	9.87*10 ⁻⁴							
Global Warming	TRACI 2.1	2.07							
Human Health (CTU noncancer/comp, emission to urban air, non-cancerous)	TRACI 2.1	3.40*10 ⁻¹¹							
Acidification air	TRACI 2.1	7.53*10 ⁻³							
	1	*End of Life: Recyclable							

Table 5. Summary of Life Cycle Analysis key parameters for manufacturing of photobioreactor

Limitations and additional notes.

As previously mentioned, other subcomponents were not included in this analysis. Some impact factors were ignored for simplicity's sake. Additionally, transport and flows during operation were not used. Calculations were placed in a per-year basis; this is not a standard protocol. However, since the system would function as separable components, and thus have distinctively different life spans, the components were placed in a per year basis for ease of comparison.

8.0 Conclusion

The design's success would depend on three major factors: the biomass output, the nutrient concentration in the effluent and the cost of the design. From the results of the simulation, the design appears to be creating an appropriate environment to benefit algal growth. Over the course of the experiment, where one batch would last 2.3 days, it was expected that the design would be able to treat wastewater so that effluent concentrations would be below nutrient concentrations specified in Canadian regulations. During that time, it was also expected to be able to grow algae to a final concentration of 4 kg/m³. By thoroughly testing the model multiple times, it was determined that the design was successful at removing nutrients and that effluent concentrations would be well below the recommended level after 2.3 days of treatment. However, the biomass production over that period of time did not meet the expected concentration since the biomass output only reached 0.06 kg/m³. The design would therefore be successful in a wastewater treatment setting but the level of biomass produced does not allow it to be competitive with other existing bioreactor designs. Regarding the cost of the device, for lab-scale use, it appears to be significantly less expensive than current bioreactors, especially in our client's case. This bioreactor was designed to be more affordable for research purposes and to have a lower environmental impact than existing designs.

While the principal objective of this design was solely for research purposes, bigger-picture thinking is required in justifying the usefulness of such research to the larger society. Therefore, potential for public and commercial services must be considered. Despite the high energetic and maintenance costs of photobioreactors, it is important to note that the use of photobioreactors could still be useful on an industrial scale to offset costs of wastewater treatment through purified, uncontaminated biomass production. The current status of wastewater treatment in most urban settings is that the public cost for treatment of waste effluent is astronomical. Given the expanding market for biofuels and other bio-based markets, some experts estimate that by selling the biomass product, municipalities and industries could offset current treatment and sanitation costs by 10%, bringing costs from 0.25-0.50 EUR/m³ to 0.23-0.45 EUR/m³ (Kligerman et al., 2015; Vulsteke et al., 2017). In a large-scale municipal or industrial scale operation, these reductions could be significant. These estimates most likely refer to open-pond systems, which are significantly less expensive than bioreactor systems. However, open pond systems are significantly less efficient, and produce contaminated biomass because of the lack of control available. Therefore, the

implementation of bioreactor systems on an industrial scale may still be justified. A more thorough economic analysis must be performed to make an assessment, especially since these figures are likely dependent on location and thus, are variable. An economic incentive as well as the existing social and environmental one could also drive up standards of sanitation and ecological regulations.

For bioreactor systems involving algae treatment to function, governmental policies must be implemented to encourage such research and development. Bioreactors have already been implemented in various forms in existing wastewater treatment settings. These usually use bacteria and anaerobic microorganisms for removal ammonia and phosphorus (Alberta Capital Region Wastewater Commission, n.d.). Such systems, however, do not provide any source of revenue, and are an enormous public cost. By incorporating autotrophic organisms such as algae, governments and communities can gain many benefits, including carbon sequestration, biomass for a variety of bio-based products, and clean processed water. Biological Nutrient Removal (BNR) has been implemented before, and therefore, implementing a new variety of BNR systems is feasible if the government shows sufficient interest for further research and development. Additionally, encouraging algal treatment of water could drive markets such as algal biofuel industries, further adding to long-term environmental, sustainability, social and economic benefits for the community.

Further work on this design would be necessary prior to implementation. Models are very useful tools to represent systems but they are not accurate. Manufacturing the bioreactor and performing actual tests would provide crucial data to support the conclusions of this report. The scaled-up version of this design was not thoroughly reviewed in this report. If a scaled-up design were to be implemented, fluid flow and light path models would be necessary to perform more indepth testing and measure the proposed solution's capacity in an industrial setting. Optimizing the biomass output would also be interesting to continue studying. It may be possible to extend the duration of the experiments to allow the algae to reproduce longer. If this path were pursued, nutrient concentration may become limiting and it could be interesting to study a continuous-system for the bioreactor, where feedstock would be added to the device continuously. This could allow for more wastewater to be treated and for increased biomass output.

9.0 References

Alberta Capital Region Wastewater Commission (n.d.). Bioreactors. ACRWC. Retrieved from https://acrwc.ab.ca/wastewater-process/bioreactors/

Al-Mashhadani, M., Wilkinson, S., Zimmerman, W. (2015). Airlift bioreactor for biological applications with microbubble mediated transport processes. *Chemical Engineering Science*, 137, 243-253.

Anyanwu, R.C., Rodriguez, C., Durrant, A., Olabi, A.G. (2018). Micro-macroalgae properties and applications. Reference Module in Materials Science and Materials Engineering.

Arbib, Zouhayr & Ruiz, J & Alvarez, Pablo & Garrido-Pérez, Carmen & Barragan, Jesus & Perales, Jose. (2013). Photobiotreatment: influence of nitrogen and phosphorus ratio in wastewater on growth kinetics of Scenedesmus obliquus. Int J Phytoremediation. 15. 774-88. 10.1080/15226514.2012.735291.

Baddoo, N. (2008). Stainless steel in construction: A review of research, applications, challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Constructional Steel Research*, 64(11), 1199-1206.

Bhatia, S., Bera, T. (2015). Classical and nonclassical techniques for secondary metabolite production in plant cell structure. In *Modern Applications of Plant Biotechnology in Pharmaceutical Sciences* (pp. 231-291). Cambridge, MA: Academic Press.

Bodega Algae (n.d.). Technology. Bodega Algae, LLC. Retrieved from <u>http://www.bodegaalgae.com/technology.html</u>

Borrego, C., Arellano, J., Abella, C., Gillbro, T., & Garcia-Gil, J. (1999). The molar extinction coefficient of bacteriochlorophyll e and the pigment stoichiometry in chlorobium phaeobacteroides. *Photosynthesis Research : Official Journal of the International Society of Photosynthesis Research*, *60*(2-3), 257-264. doi:10.1023/A:1006230820007

Braddock, R., Cropp, R., & Boskovic, L. (2015). Filtration Efficiency of Bubble Scrubber. 21st International Congress on Modelling and Simulation, Gold Coast, Australia, 29 Nov.- 4 Dec., 2015.

Brown, N., & Shilton, A. (2014). Luxury uptake of phosphorus by microalgae in waste stabilisation ponds: Current understanding and future direction. *Reviews in Environmental Science and Bio/technology*, *13*(3), 321-328. doi:10.1007/s11157-014-9337-3

Buzalewicz, I., Kujawi. ska, M., Krauze, W., & Podbielska, H. (2016). Novel perspectives on the characterization of species-dependent optical signatures of bacterial colonies by digital holography. *Plos One, 11*(3), 0150449. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0150449

Cai, W., Zhao, Z., Li, D., Lei, Z., Zhang, Z., & Lee, D. (2019). Algae granulation for nutrients uptake and algae harvesting during wastewater treatment. *Chemosphere*, *214*, 55-59. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.09.107

Carvalho, A., Silva, S., Baptista, J., Malcata, F. (2011). Light requirements in microalgal photobioreactors: an overview of biophotonic aspects. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology*, 89, 1275-1288.

Chambers, P.A., Allard, M., Walker, S.L., Marsalek, J., Lawrence, J., Servos, M., Busnarda, J., Munger, K.S., Adare, K., Jefferson, C., Kent, R.A., Wong, M.P. (1997). The impacts of municipal wastewater effluents in Canadian waters: A review. *Water Quality Research Journal of Canada*, 32(4), 659-713.

Çetin, Betul & Akkurt, İskender & E. Gokgoz, E & Bezir, Nalan & Evcin, Atilla. (2010). Investigation Of Radiation Shielding Properties Of Glass Coated By Tio2 Using Gamma-ray Spectroscopy. Balkan Physics Letters: Bogazici University Press, 18, 181018, pp. 138 - 141.

Chen, Pao Chi. (2012). Adsorption of Carbon Dioxide in a Bubble-Column Scrubber. *Greenhouse Gases: Capturing, Utilization and Reduction* (pp 95-116). North Dakota, USA: North Dakota State University.

Chisti, Y. (2007). Biodiesel from microalgae. *Biotechnology Advances*, 25(3), 294-306. Patyna, A., Witczak, S. (2016). Overview of photobioreactors for the production of biodiesel. *Chemik*, 10(70), 634-643.

Commercial Algae (2015). Industrial Plankton Photobioreactors. Commercial Algae Professionals. Retrieved from https://www.commercialalgae.com/products-and-services/photobioreactors/

Costa, J., de Morais, M. (2014). An open pond system for microalgal cultivation. In *Biofuels from algae* (pp. 1-22). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier.

Cuellar-Bermudez, S.P., Romero-Ogawa, M.A., Vannela, R., Lai, Y.S., Rittmann, B.E., Parra-Saldivar, R. (2015). Effects of light intensity and carbon dioxide on lipids and fatty acids produced by *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803 during continuous flow. Algal Research, 12, 10-16.

Davis, R., Markham, J., Kinchin, C., Grundl, N., Tan, E. (2016). Process design and economics for the production of algal biomass: Algal biomass production in open pond systems and processing through dewatering for downstream conversion. *National Renewable Energy Laboratory*. Retrieved from National Renewable Energy Laboratory website: https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/64772.pdf.

Deckwer, W., Hallensleben, J., & Popovic, M. (1980). Exclusion of gas sparger influence on mass transfer in bubble columns. *The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, *58*(2), 190-197. doi:10.1002/cjce.5450580209

De Marchin, T., Erpicum, M., Franck, F. (2015). Photosynthesis of Scenedesmus obliquus in outdoor open thinlayer cascade system in high and low CO2 in Belgium. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 215, 2-12.

De Mooij, T., de Vries, G., Latsos, C., Wijffels, R., Janssen, M. (2016). Impact of light color on photobioreactor productivity. *Algal Research*, 15, 32-42.

De Morais, M.G., Costa, J.A.V. (2007). Biofixation of carbon dioxide by *Spirulina* sp. and *Scenedesmus obliquus* cultivated in a three-stage serial tubular photobioreactor. Journal of Biotechnology, 129(3), 439-445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2007.01.009

Diffusa, A., Talukdar, J., Kalita, M.C., Mohanty, K., Goud, V.V. (2015). Effect of light intensity and pH condition on the growth, biomass and lipid content of microalgae *Scenedesmus* species. Biofuels, 6(1-2), 37-44.

Dusart, A., El-Deeb, H., Jaouhari, N., Ka, D., Ruf, L. (2011). Final Report ISSF Workshop. Retrieved from International Stainless Steel Website: <u>http://www.worldstainless.org/Files/issf/non-image-files/PDF/Life Cycle Costing Report from Sorbonne University.pdf</u>

Eibl, R., & Eibl, D. (2008). Design of bioreactors suitable for plant cell and tissue cultures. *Phytochemistry Reviews* : *Fundamentals and Perspectives of Natural Products Research*, 7(3), 593-598. doi:10.1007/s11101-007-9083-z

European Commission. (2008). Member states approve the phasing-out of incandescent bulbs by 2012 (press release). Retrieved from <u>http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release IP-08-1909 en.htm</u>.

Fernandes, B., Dragone, G., Teixeira, A., Vicente, A. (2010). Light regime characterization in an airlift photobioreactor for production of microalgae with high starch content. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, 161(1-8), 218-226.

Fogler, H.S. (2016). Mole Balances. In Elements of Chemical Reaction Engineering, Fifth Edition. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. (1992). Wastewater treatment and use in agriculture - FAO irrigation and drainage paper 47. Retrieved from FAO Website: http://www.fao.org/docrep/t0551e/t0551e00.htm#Contents

Gayral, B. (2017). LEDs for lighting: Basic physics and prospects for energy savings. *Comptes Rendus Physiques*, 18(7-8), 453-461.

Gendy, T., & El-Temtamy, S. (2013). Commercialization potential aspects of microalgae for biofuel production: An overview. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 22(1), 43-51. doi:10.1016/j.ejpe.2012.07.001

Gerlee, P., & Lundh, T. (2016). *Scientific models : Red atoms, white lies and black boxes in a yellow book*. Switzerland: Springer. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-27081-4

Girard, J., Roy, M., Hafsa, M., Gagnon, J., Faucheux, N., Heitz, M., . . . Deschênes, J. (2014). Mixotrophic cultivation of green microalgae scenedesmus obliquus on cheese whey permeate for biodiesel production. *Algal Research*, *5*, 241-248. doi:10.1016/j.algal.2014.03.002

Government of Canada (2012). Wastewater Systems Effluent Regulations (SOR/2012-139). Retrieved from Justice Laws Website: <u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/sor-2012-139/fulltext.html</u>

Government of Canada. (2014). Wastewater pollution (accessed 23 March, 2019). Retrieved from: https://www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/wastewater/pollution.html

Government of Canada. (2018). Funding and incentive programs for greening your business. Retrieved from https://canadabusiness.ca/managing-your-business/day-to-day-operations/environment-and-business/funding-and-incentive-programs-for-greening-your-business/.

Government of Canada Justice Laws. (1999). Canadian Environmental Protection Act (accessed 12 February, 2019). Retrieved from: <u>https://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/c-15.31/page-18.html#h-38</u>

Griffiths, W.T. (1977). Reconstitution of chlorophyllide formation by isolated etioplast membranes. *Biochemistry Journal*, 174, 681-692.

Gris, B., Morosinotto, T., Giacometti, G., Bertucco, A., & Sforza, E. (2014). Cultivation of scenedesmus obliquus in photobioreactors: Effects of light intensities and light-dark cycles on growth, productivity, and biochemical composition. *Applied Biochemistry and Biotechnology*, *172*(5), 2377-89. doi:10.1007/s12010-013-0679-z

Grönlund, Erik, & Fröling, Morgan. (2014). Wastewater Treatment and Recycling with Microalgae in Cold Climate. *Proceedings Of The 20th International Sustainable Development Research Conference Trondheim 18-20 June 2014*,317-324.

Gross, M. (2017). Our planet wrapped in plastic. Current Biology, 27(16), 785-788.

Guo, K., Wang, T., Yang, G., & Wang, J. (2017). Distinctly different bubble behaviors in a bubble column with pure liquids and alcohol solutions. *Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology*, *92*(2), 432-441. doi:10.1002/jctb.5022

Gutierrez-Wing, M.T., Silaban, A., Barnett, J., Rusch, K.A. (2014). Light irradiance and spectral distribution effects on microalgal bioreactors. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, 14, 574-580.

Hadiyanto, H., Elmore, S., Van Gerven, T., & Stankiewicz, A. (2013). Hydrodynamic evaluations in high rate algae pond (hrap) design. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, *217*, 231-239.

Hodaifa, G., Sanchez, S., Martinez, M.E., Orpez, R. (2013). Biomass production of *Scenedesmus obliquus* from mixtures of urban and olive-oil mill wastewaters used as culture medium. *Applied Energy*, 104, 345-352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2012.11.005

Huang, Q., Jiang, F., Wang, L., Yang, C. (2017). Design of Photobioreactors for mass cultivation of photosynthetic organisms. *Engineering*, 3(3), 318-329.

Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. (2007). IPCC Fourth Assessment Report: Climate Change 2007. (2.10.2 Direct Global Warming Potentials). Retrieved from IPCC Website: <u>https://www.ipcc.ch/publications_and_data/ar4/wg1/en/ch2s2-10-2.html</u>

International Organization of Standardization. (2006). *Environmental management- Life cycle assessment-Requirements and guidelines* (ISO 14044:2006(E)). Switzerland: ISO.

Itsubo, N., & Inaba, A. (2003). Assessment of Environmental Impact of Manufacturing Steel Considering Physical Damage to Human Health. *MATERIALS TRANSACTIONS*, 44(1), 167-172.

Ivanova, E., Crawford, R., Webb, H., & Arnott, J. (2012). Plastic Degradation and Its Environmental Implications with Special Reference to Poly(ethylene terephthalate). *Polymers*, *5*(1), 1-18.

Jonasz, . & Fournier, G.R. (2007). Light Scattering by Particles in Water: Theoretical and Experimental Foundations. Light Scattering by Particles in Water: Theoretical and Experimental Foundations. 10.1016/B978-0-12-388751-1.X5000-5.

Kadic, E., Heindel, T.J. (2014). Bubble column bioreactors. In An Introduction to Bioreactor Hydrodynamics and Gas-Liquid Mass Transfer. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons.

Kaewkannetra, P., Enmak, P., & Chiu, T. (2012). The effect of co2 and salinity on the cultivation of scenedesmus obliquus for biodiesel production. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, *17*(3), 591-597.

Kantarci, N., Borak, F., & Ulgen, K. (2005). Bubble column reactors. *Process Biochemistry*, 40(7), 2263-2283. doi:10.1016/j.procbio.2004.10.004

Kharbanda, O. P.; Chu, J. C. (1970). Experimental Studies with a Sieve Plate Column, Brit. Chem. Eng. 15 No. 6, pp. 792-794.

Kligerman, D., & Bouwer, E. (2015). Prospects for biodiesel production from algae-based wastewater treatment in brazil: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *52*, 1834-1846.

Kreis, C., Le, B., Linne, C., Makowski, M., & Baumchen, O. (2018). Adhesion of chlamydomonas microalgae to surfaces is switchable by light. *Nature Physics*, *14*(1), 45-49. doi:10.1038/NPHYS4258

Krishna, R., & Ellenberger, J. (1996). Gas holdup in bubble column reactors operating in the churn-turbulent flow regime. *Aiche Journal, 42*, 2627-2634.

Krzemińska, I., Pawlik-Skowrońska, B., Trzcińska, M., & Tys, J. (2014). Influence of photoperiods on the growth rate and biomass productivity of green microalgae. *Bioprocess and Biosystems Engineering*, *37*(4), 735-741. doi:10.1007/s00449-013-1044-x

Kumar, K., Dasgupta, C., Nayak, B., Lindblad, P., & Das, D. (2011). Development of suitable photobioreactors for co2 sequestration addressing global warming using green algae and cyanobacteria. *Bioresource Technology*, *102*(8), 4945-4953.

Lewis, L. A. and McCourt, R. M. (2004), Green algae and the origin of land plants . Am. J. Bot., 91: 1535-1556. doi:10.3732/ajb.91.10.1535

Luangpipat, T. (2013). *Photobioreactor production of microalgae for potential fuel oils* (doctor of philosophy thesis). Massey University, Pamerlston North, New Zealand.

Lurling, Miquel. (2003). Phenotypic plasticity in the green algae Desmodesmus and Scenedesmus with special reference to the induction of defensive morphology. Annales de Limnologie - International Journal of Limnology. 39. 85 - 101. 10.1051/limn/2003014.

Madigan, M. T., Martinko, J. M., Bender, K. S., Buckley, D. H., & Stahl, D. A. (2015). *Brock biology of microorganisms* (Fourteenth edition.). Boston: Pearson.

Majid, M., Shafqat, S., Inam, H., Hashmi, U., Kazi, A. (2014). Production of algal biomass. In *Biomass Resources in Environmental and Socio-Economic Analysis of Fuel-Wood Consumption*. Berlin, Germany: Springer International Publishing.

Martinez, M.E., Sanchez, S., Jimenez, J.M., El Yousfi, F., Munoz, L. (2000). Nitrogen and phosphorus removal from urban wastewater by the microalga *Scenedesmus obliquus*. Bioresource Technology, 73(3), 263-272. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-8524(99)00121-2

McGill University ENvironmental Health and Safety (2017). Laboratory Safety Manual. Retrieved from https://www.mcgill.ca/ehs/laboratory/lab-safety-manual

Mills, A. (2004). Lighting: The progress & promise of LEDs. III-Vs Review, 17(4), 39-41.

Molina, E., Fernandez, J., Acien, F., & Chisti, Y. (2002). Tubular photobioreactor design for algal cultures. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 92(2), 113.

Naidoo, S., & Olaniran, A. (2013). Treated wastewater effluent as a source of microbial pollution of surface water resources. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *11*(1), 249-70. doi:10.3390/ijerph110100249

Najafpour, G. (2007). Bioreactor design. In *Biochemical Engineering and Biotechnology* (pp. 142-169). Amsterdam, Netherlands: Elsevier Science.

NetLogo (2018). NetLogo User Manual: Version 6.0.4. Northwestern University. Retrieved from https://ccl.northwestern.edu/netlogo/docs/

Ortiz, C. (2003). Mechanics of materials. Retrieved from http://web.mit.edu/course/3/3.11/www/modules/props.pdf

Paerl, H., Fulton, R., Moisander, P., & Dyble, J. (2001). Harmful freshwater algal blooms, with an emphasis on cyanobacteria. *Thescientificworldjournal*, *1*, 76-113.

Pegallapati, A.K., Nirmalakhandan, N., Dungan, B., Holguin, F.O., Schaub, T. (2014). Evaluation of internally illuminated photobioreactor for improving energy ratio. Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering, 117(1), 92-98.

Peillon, S., Fauvel, S., Chagnot, C., Gendarmes, F. (2017). Aerosol Characterization and Particle Scrubbing Efficiency of Underwater Operations during Laser Cutting of Steel Components for Dismantling of Nuclear Facilities. *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, *17*(6), 1463-1473.

Posten, C. (2009). Design principles of photo-bioreactors for cultivation of microalgae. *Engineering in Life Sciences*, 9(3), 165-177.

Prathima Devi, M., & Venkata Mohan, S. (2012). Co2 supplementation to domestic wastewater enhances microalgae lipid accumulation under mixotrophic microenvironment: Effect of sparging period and interval. *Bioresource Technology*, *112*, 116-123.

Quibit (2014). Photobioreactors. Quibit Systems. Retrieved from https://qubitbiology.com/photobioreactors-2/

Rawat, I., Ranjith Kumar, R., Mutanda, T., & Bux, F. (2011). Dual role of microalgae: Phycoremediation of domestic wastewater and biomass production for sustainable biofuels production. *Applied Energy*, *88*(10), 3411-3424.

Rosenberg, J., Oyler, G., Wilkinson, L., & Betenbaugh, M. (2008). A green light for engineered algae: Redirecting metabolism to fuel a biotechnology revolution. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 19(5), 430-6.

Salim, S., Vermuë, M., & Wijffels, R. (2012). Ratio between autoflocculating and target microalgae affects the energy-efficient harvesting by bio-flocculation. *Bioresource Technology*, *118*, 49-55. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2012.05.007

Sanchez Miron, A., Contreras Gomez, A., Garcia Camacho, F., Molina Grima, E., Chisti, Y. (1999). Comparative evaluation of compact photobioreactors for large-scale monoculture of microalgae. *Journal of Biotechnology*, 70, 249-270.

Sangwan, K.S., Bhakar, V., Naik, S., Andrat, S.N. (2014). Life cycle assessment of incandescent, fluorescent, compact fluorescent and light-emitting diode lamps in an Indian scenario. *Procedia CIRP*, 15, 467-472.

Sforza, E., Gris, B., de Farias Silva, C.E., Morosinotto, T., Bertucco, A. (2014). Effects of light on cultivation of Scenedesmus obliquus in batch and continuous flat plate photobioreactor. *Chemical Engineering Transactions*, 38, 211-216.

Shen, Q., Jiang, J., Chen, L., Cheng, L., Xu, X., & Chen, H. (2015). Effect of carbon source on biomass growth and nutrients removal of scenedesmus obliquus for wastewater advanced treatment and lipid production. *Bioresource Technology*, *190*, 257-263. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2015.04.053

Singh, R., & Sharma, S. (2012). Development of suitable photobioreactor for algae production - a review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 16*(4), 2347-2353. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2012.01.026

Singh, S., & Singh, P. (2014). Effect of co2 concentration on algal growth: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, *38*, 172-179. doi:10.1016/j.rser.2014.05.043

Slegers, P., Wijffels, R., Straten, V., & Boxtel, V. (2011). Design scenarios for flat panel photobioreactors. *Applied Energy*, *88*(10), 3342-3353.

Solaris (2018). Elara ST Autoclavable Photobioreactors. Solaris Biotech Solutions. Retrieved from https://www.solarisbiotech.com/fermenters-bioreactors/r-d-autoclavable-sip-fermenters-bioreactors/elara-st#gas-mixing

Su, Y., Mennerich, A., & Urban, B. (2016). The long-term effects of wall attached microalgal biofilm on algaebased wastewater treatment. *Bioresource Technology*, *218*, 1249-1252.

Subitec. (2017). FPA Laboratory Photobioreactor. Subitec. Retrieved from https://subitec.com/ upl/de/ d/subitec product brochure 2017-3.pdf

Tang, D., Han, W., Li, P., Miao, X., & Zhong, J. (2011). Co2 biofixation and fatty acid composition of scenedesmus obliquus and chlorella pyrenoidosa in response to different co2 levels. *Bioresource Technology*, *102*(3), 3071-3076. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.10.047

Thorat, B., Kulkarni, A., & Joshi, J. (2001). Design of sieve plate spargers for bubble columns: Role of weeping. *Chemical Engineering & Technology*, *24*(8), 815-828. doi:10.1002/1521-4125(200108)24:83.0.CO;2-H

Tsuda, K. (2007). Behavior and Mechanisms of Degradation of Thermosetting Plastics in Liquid Environments. *Journal of the Japan Petroleum Institute*, *50*(5), 240-248.

Ugwu, C., Aoyagi, H., Uchiyama, H. (2008). Photobioreactors for mass cultivation of algae. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(10), 4021-4028.

United Nations Water. (2017). *United Nations World Water Development Report*. Retrieved from UNESCO Website: <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0024/002475/247553e.pdf</u>

United Nations Water. (2018). *Water Quality and Wastewater*. Retrieved from UN Water Website: <u>http://www.unwater.org/water-facts/quality-and-wastewater/</u>

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2015). Containers and packaging: Product-specific data. Washington, DC: United States Environmental Protection Agency.

United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2014). *Tool for Reduction and Assessment of Chemicals and Other Environmental Impacts (TRACI)*. Retrieved from EPA Website: <u>https://www.epa.gov/chemical-research/tool-reduction-and-assessment-chemicals-and-other-environmental-impacts-traci</u>

United States Department of Energy. (2012). Life Cycle Assessment of Energy and Environmental Impacts of LED Lighting Products. Retrieved from U.S. Dep. of Energy Website: https://www1.eere.energy.gov/buildings/publications/pdfs/ssl/2012_led_lca-pt2.pdf

Urbig, T., Knaust, R.K.C., Schiller, H., Senger, H. (1995). Kinetic Studies of Protochlorophyllide Reduction *in vitro* in the Greening Mutant C-2A' of the Unicellular Green Alga *Scenedesmus obliquus*. Zeitschrift für Naturforschung, 50c, 775-780.

Vassilev, S., & Vassileva, C. (2016). Composition, properties and challenges of algae biomass for biofuel application: An overview. Fuel, 181, 1-33. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2016.04.106

Verschoor, A., Bekmezci, O., Van Donk, E., & Vijverberg, J. (2009). The ghost of herbivory past: Slow defence relaxation in the chlorophyte scenedesmus obliquus. *Journal of Limnology*, *68*(2), 327-327. doi:10.4081/jlimnol.2009.327

Vulsteke, E., Van Den Hende, S., Bourez, L., Capoen, H., Rousseau, D., & Albrecht, J. (2017). Economic feasibility of microalgal bacterial floc production for wastewater treatment and biomass valorization: A detailed up-to-date analysis of up-scaled pilot results. *Bioresource Technology*, 224, 118-129.

Wang, Y., Ho, S., Cheng, C., Guo, W., Nagarajan, D., Ren, N., . . . Chang, J. (2016). Perspectives on the feasibility of using microalgae for industrial wastewater treatment. *Bioresource Technology*, 222, 485-497.

Wu, L.B., Li, Z., Song, Y.Z. (2010). Hydrodynamic conditions in designed spiral photobioreactors. Bioresource Technology, 101(1), 298-303.

World Health Organization (2011). Laboratory Quality Standards and their Implementation. WHO. Retrieved from http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/documents/s22409en/s22409en.pdf?ua=1

Yang, S. (2007). *Bioprocessing for value-added products from renewable resources : New technologies and applications*(1st ed.). Amsterdam: Elsevier.

Zahradnik, J., Fialova, M., Ruzicka, M., Drahos, J., Kastanek, F., & Thomas, N. (1997). Duality of the gas-liquid flow regimes in bubble column reactors. *Chemical Engineering Science*, *52*(21-22), 3811.

Appendices

<u>Note:</u> All program files used to report the modelling process can be accessed in the Google Drive Folder <u>here</u>.

Appendix 1. Schematics and Drawings

Appendix 1.1. Example of NetLogo graphical User Interface.



Appendix 1.2. Design Drawings



A general schematic representing the proposed design: *Top left*: cross sectional view of design reactor body, including sparging inflow, exhaust and proposed dimensions. *Bottom Left*: Top view of cylindrical photobioreactor including spiral-formed lighting. *Top right*: cross sectional schematic of assembled lighting and design body.

A 3D AutoCAD rendering of the conceptual design is shown here for clearer viewing:



Sparge Plate: 3D AutoCAD rendering of sparge plate design with portion of light rod frame inserted in the light securing system shown for reference. The steel rods with the light helix are one unit which are completely removable from the reactor plate. The mesh represents the sparge plate, which in reality would contain holes 5 mm in diameter, arranged in an array with spacing of 1 cm.



Lighting Structure:



(A). The helical structure mounted on the six-rod frame is shown above. The helix is represented as a thinner structure than the proposed design of 1 cm - thick LED strip lights. This is to help with visibility of the configuration. (B). Two close-up views of the mounted double-helix structure is shown at the base of the mounting structure. The pink ribbon represents the LED strip light, which consists of a series of small LED bulbs on one continuous light tape.

Appendix 2. Calculations

Appendix 2.1. Algal Concentration Calculations.

Volume modeled by cross section: $V = \pi \times r^2 \times h = \pi \times 0.1^2 \times 0.02 = 6.283 \times 10^{-4} m^3 = 628.3 mL$

Initial concentration (input): Ct = 10⁵ cells/mL Relation between modeled and actual concentrations:

Nb cells modeled = $Ct \times V = 10^{\frac{5}{2}} \times 628.3 \text{ mL} = 6.28 \times 10^{7} \text{ cells}$ (in cross section)

Starting population modeled = 10 dots

So: 1 dot cell = 6.28 × 10⁶ real cells

Initial mass concentration: $C_l = 10^{\frac{d}{c}} \frac{delle}{mL} \times 37 \frac{del}{cell} = 3.7 \times 10^{-6} g/mL = 3.7 mlcrog/mL$

 $C = nb \ cells \times 6.28 \times 10^6 + (628.3 \ mL \times 0.001) = 1 \times 10^7 \times nb \ cells \ cells/L$

Appendix 2.2. Beer-Lambert Law.

With A: absorbance, c: molar extinction coefficient, I: light path length, C: algal concentration,

I: light intensity, Io: initial light intensity

So, our Beer-Lambert equation: $A = \epsilon \times l \times C = 9.12 \times 10^6 \times 0.25 \times C = 2.28 \times 10^6 \times C$

So: $I = I_0/10^4 = 150/10^{2.28 \times 10^6 \times C}$

Appendix 2.2.1. Light Intensity Calculations.

$$I = I_0 / 10^4 = 150 / 10^{2.28 \times 10^0 \times 1.66 \times 10^{-20} \times nb \ cells} = 150 / 10^{3.7848 \times 10^{-14} \times nb \ cells} \ umol/m^2.s$$

Borrego et al. (1999) have approximated the molar extinction of the BChl bacteria in a solvent solution to $48.9 \text{ mM}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1} = 4.89 \times 10^6 \text{ M m}^{-1}$. This factor was later implemented in the NetLogo model to adjust for absorbance values of the cells and solution themselves.

This, the final light intensity equation implemented was

$$I = I_0 / 10^4 = 150 / 10^{2.28 \times 10^6 \times 1.66 \times 10^{-20} \times nb \ cells} = 150 / 10^{(3.7848 \times 10^{-14} + 4.89 \times 10^{-4}) \times nb \ cells} \ umol/m^2.s^{-10} = 150 / 10^{-14} + 4.89 \times 10^{-14} +$$

Appendix 2.3. Doubling Time Equation. (Celekli et al., 2008; De Morais and Costa, 2007)

 $DT = ln(2) + \mu_{max}$

with DT: doubling time, and µmax : maximum specific growth rate

Appendix 2.4. Generation Time Equation. (Madigan et al., 2015)

 $N = N_0 * 2^{t/g} \equiv g = ln(2) * t + ln(\frac{N}{N_0})$

With N: number of cells, N_0 : initial number of cells, t: time, g: generation time

Appendix 2.5. Biomass Production Requirements for Phosphorus Removal.

$$\begin{split} MM(PO_4^{3^-}) &= 30.97 + 16 * 4 = 95 \frac{g}{mol} \\ C_i &= 135 \; \mu mol/L = 135 * 10^{-6} \; mol * 95 \frac{g}{mol} = 12.8 \; mg/L \\ C_f &= 0.5 \frac{mg}{L} = \frac{0.5}{95} = 5 \; \mu mol/L \\ So: \Delta C &= 130 \; \mu mol \\ Y_p &= 1.53 \; \frac{mg - biomass}{\mu mol - P} \\ So: Biomass \; Produced = \Delta C * Y_p = 130 * 1.53 = 199 \; mg \end{split}$$

Appendix 2.6. Total Biomass Produced.

 $\begin{array}{l} C_i = 3.14*10^9 \ cells/batch \ and \ C_f = 5.11*10^{10} \ cells/batch \\ \Delta C = 4.8*10^{10} \ cells/batch \\ DW = 37 \ pg = 37*10^{-12} \ g \\ So: Biomass \ Produced = 4.8*10^{10}*37*10^{-12} = 1.77 \ g \end{array}$

Appendix 2.7. Calculation of initial sparge velocity within reactor

Mass flow rate of the bubble is constant before, during and after passing through the sparge plate. This can be represented by the following equation:

$$\widehat{m} = \rho v_1 * A_1 = \rho v_2 * A_2$$

To determine the minimum bubble velocity within the reactor after passing through the sparger, therefore, density is assumed to be constant, and thus

$$2.67 * \pi * 0.005^{2} = v_{2} * \pi * 0.1^{2}$$
$$v_{2} = 6 * 10^{-3} m/s$$

Note that this assumes incompressible flow, and neglects the process of bubble formation. Therefore, this approximation is limited, and further experimental analysis is required.

Appendix 3. LCA

Appendix 3(a) ISO-14044-2006 (E) framework, modified for particulars of proposed bioreactor system.



Appendix 3 (b). Calculations and data for determination of LCA of LED subcomponent. Step 1: Gather Data for subcomponents and processes in manufacture process (*Note: "original" denotes the values from the US Department of Energy document (2012), while the "scaled" values are approximated values assuming a proportional relationship in manufacture, and using a factor of 3.15 (calculated by approximating the length of LED strip needed for design as compared to manufacture of LED bulb)*).

Sapphire Wafer																	
		Energy Inputs (kWh/waf er-from Energy.go	*Scaled energy	Alumin	a (g-	*Sci alui	aled mina	Water inputs (L/wafer	-	*scal	ed r	Cleaner inputs (original-	*Scaled				
Step		v table)	inputs	origina	I)	inp	uts	original)		input	s	L/wafer)	inputs				
Boule growth		15.51	48.850393	7	16.61	52.	31496063		100	314.9	9606299	(0	0			
Core fabrication		1.35	4.25196850	4	0		0		0		0	(0	0			
Wafer slicing		1.24	3.90551181	1	0		0		2	6.299	9212598		0	0			
Lapping and bev	eling	0.09	0.28346456	7	0		0		0.67	2.11	1023622		0	0			
polishing and																	
chemical-mecha	nical																
planarization		0		0	0		0		0		0	(0	0			
geometry and op	otical																
inspection		0.001	0.00314960	6	0		0		2	6.299	9212598	3.	5 11.0236	52205			
Totals			57.2944881	9		52.	31496063			329.6	5692913		11.0236	52205			
Die Fabrication																	
Stan		Energy, original (kWh/waf	Energy.	H2, orig	ginal		cooled	NH3, original		NUID	cooled	TMGa,	TMGa,		N2, origi	nal	N2 could
Step		er)	Scaled	(m3)	0.00	HZ,	scaled	(m3)	0.00	INH3,	scaled	original (g	scaled	•	(m3)		NZ, scaled
Bake		8.75	27.5590551	2	0.00	0.1	889/03/8		0.02	0.002	2992120		0	0		0	0
Tomp ramp		4.74	14.9291338	0 7	0		0		0 02	0.067	0000106		0	0		0	0
Puffert N laver		1.40	4.35642315	/	1 5 4	4 0	U 50202701		0.02	0.002	2992120	1.2		6602		1 5 4	4 850202701
Active layer MO	N/	3.77	14 0201220	+ c	0.01	4.0	21406062		0 01	0.021	1406062	1.5	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	00095		0.01	4.630393701
Active layer with	vv	4.74	10 2207096	0 c	0.01	0.0	00076070		0.01	0.05	0000106	0.0	5 0.05440	6105		0.01	0.031490003
Totals		5.20	102 119110	2	0.00	0.1	007/05/0		0.02	0.002	472444	0.0	4 6 200	0376		0.00	0.1009/03/0
TOLAIS			103.118110	2		э.	25984252			0.220	9472441		4.0295	2120			5.070800142
Post-epitaxy steps	Energy, scaled	Target Ag (mm4/wafer , scaled)	Ti scaled (mm4/wafer)	N, scaled mm4/ wafer)	UPW (L/wafe	r)	N2, scaled (m3)	Acetone, scaled (L/wafer)	deve scale (mL/	loper, d wafer)	etchant Ag scaled (mL/wafer	Etchant , Metal, scaled) (mL/wafer)	GaN Etchant, scaled (mL/wafer)	Photor scaled (mL/wa	esist, afer(SF6, scaled (I/wafer)	Target Ni (mm4/wafer)
P contact	3.74803	1.385826772	0 1.480314961	0 9.732283465	188.97	0 6378	2.204724409	0		0		0 0 0 0	0		0		0 0
N contact opening	7.244094	45 94.48818898	3 0	0	188.97	6378	2.204724409	0.62992126	157	.480315	125.98425	2 188.976378	0.598425197	25.196	85039	(0 0
GaN pattern	8.535433	31 (0 0	0	188.97	6378	2.204724409	0.31496063	78.74	4015748		0 0	0	12.59	84252	0.3149606	3 0
N contact Other	3.55905	51 (76 (0	0	188.97	6378 0	2.204/24409	0.31496063	125	0.984252		0 0	0	15.74	80315		1.322834646
Totals	30.960	53 95.87401575	1.480314961	9.732283465	755.905	5118	8.818897638	1.25984252	362.2	<mark>2047244</mark>	125.98425	2 188.976378	0.598425197	53.543	30709 30709	0.3149606	3 1.322834646
Packaged LED Assembly Totals	Ceramic substrate 2 layer alumina (g)	e- Energy	ESD diode (silicon) (g)	Gold (g)	Underfi	II (g)											

Step 2: Using TRACI and IPCC methods, calculate impact factor sums (per year of life span), by multiplying impact factor by kg of material (*Note: scaling and conversions are included in calculations shown below*).

mass in system	UUID	Formatted CAS #	Substance Name	HH Particulate Air (PM2.5 eq / kg substance)	Ecotox. CF [CTUecokg] , Em.airC, freshwater	Human health CF [CTUcancen' kg], Emission to cont. rural air, cancer
52.35748031	39148248	39148-24-8	FOSETYL-ALU	0.00E+00	1.33E+00	2.68E-10
11.02362205	68439509	68439-50-9	ALCOHOLS, C	0.00E+00	3.65E-04	n/a i
0.220472441	7664417	7664-41-7	AMMONIA	1.88E+00	n/a	n/a
13.88976378	17778880	17778-88-0	NITROGEN	0.00E+00	n/a	n/a
1.322834646	x	х	NICKEL(II)	0.00E+00	8.05E+00	4.11E-09
410.8346457	х	х	SILVER(I)	0.00E+00	2.40E+03	1.04E-02
0.31496063	2551624	2551-62-4	SULFUR HEXA	0.00E+00	n/a	n/a
415.8097638	130154	130-15-4	1,4-NAPHTHO(0.00E+00	2.04E+03	n/a
412.1574803			COPPER(II)	0.00E+00	4.04E+00	2.32E-09
52.35748031	x	х	ARSENIC(III)	0.00E+00	5.58E-01	1.49E-06
400	101906	101-90-6	OXIRANE, 2,2'-	0.00E+00	n/a	n/a
400	79107	79-10-7	ACRYLIC ACID	0.00E+00	1.45E+00	9.71E-06
1.25984252	67641	67-64-1	ACETONE	0.00E+00	9.99E-05	1.22E-11
Totals per year				8.29E-03	3.26E+02	7.60E-04

Appendix 3 (c.) Calculations and data for determination of LCA of LED subcomponent. Step 1: Gather Data for subcomponents and processes in manufacture process (*Note: All values are taken from the table below, from Itsubo & Inaba (2003)'s research*).

	Carbon steel sheet (1 kg)	Stainless steel sheet (1 kg)
CH_4	5.50×10^{-6}	1.71×10^{-5}
CO_2	1.98	4.14
N ₂ O	6.11×10^{-5}	3.86×10^{-4}
NOx	1.00×10^{-3}	6.40×10^{-3}
SO ₂	1.60×10^{-3}	1.03×10^{-2}
SPM	2.56×10^{-5}	1.10×10^{-4}
As	1.13×10^{-9}	3.53×10^{-9}
Cd	5.67×10^{-11}	1.76×10^{-10}
CO	3.11×10^{-4}	1.70×10^{-3}
Cr	1.13×10^{-9}	3.53×10^{-9}

Source: Isubo & Inaba (2003)

Step 2: Using TRACI and IPCC methods, calculate impact factor sums (per year of life span), by multiplying impact factor by kg of material (*Note: scaling and conversions are included in calculations shown below: the assumed mass was 15 kg of steel, and the scaling factor is 15* the inventory values above*).

CAS #	Formatte d CAS #	Substan ce Name	Global Warming Air (kg CO2 eq / kg substanc e)	Acidifica tion Air (kg SO2 eq / kg substanc e)	Eutrophi cation Water (kg N eq / kg substanc e)	Ecotox. CF [CTUeco/ kg], Em.airU, fresh v at er	Ecotox. CF [CTUeco/ kg], Em.fr.wat erC, freshwat er	Human health CF [CTUnon cancer/k g], Emission to urban air, non- canc.
74828	74-82-8	METHANE	6.41E-03	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	n/a	n/a	n/a
10102440	########	NITROGE	0.00E+00	4.05E-03	1.69E-03	n/a	n/a	n/a
Х	х	NITROGE	0.00E+00	6.72E-02	2.79E-02	n/a	n/a	n/a
124389	124-38-9	CARBON	6.21E+01	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	n/a	n/a	n/a
7446095	########	SULFUR [0.00E+00	1.55E-01	0.00E+00	n/a	n/a	n/a
х	х	ARSENIC	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	3.37E-04	8.06E-04	9.04E-10
х	х	CADMIUM	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	1.04E-05	2.56E-05	1.17E-10
Х	х	CHROMIU	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	2.74E-05	6.85E-05	1.89E-16
630080	630-08-0	CARBON	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	0.00E+00	n/a	n/a	n/a
Totals			6.21E+01	2.26E-01	2.96E-02	3.75E-04	9.00E-04	1.02E-09
Totals per								
year			2.07E+00	7.53E-03	9.87E-04	1.25E-05	3.00E-05	3.40E-11

Unit	Quantity	Total Cost (CAD)	Working Period (years)
304 Stainless steel pipe [1]	1	25.00	30
304 Stainless steel sheet ^[2]	1	53.72	30
LED strips 32 W/m ²	6.3	252.00	15
Pump 12V 1.2L/min	2	44.90	5
Brass valve	2	13.20	10
PVC Plastic Tubing	1	5.28	50
CO2 bone dry gas	1	50.00	0.583
Steel rods ^[3]	3	39.60	30
Feedstock (Wastewater)	31.4 L	0	-
Scenedesmus obliquus culture	1	165.10	-
Turbidity sensor	1	22.10	1
Waterproof pH meter	1	47.99	1
Labor costs for manufacture	-	500.00	-
Subtotal	-	1218.89	-
Safety factor	15%	182.8335	-
Total	-	1401.72	-

Appendix 4. Economic Analysis: Cost Worksheet

^[1] Pipe with dimensions of 1m length and 20 cm diameter for outer structure of bioreactor ^[2] Sheet with dimensions of 50cm x 75cm for top and bottom lids of bioreactor and bubble break for CO2 sparging

^[3] Rods of 1m length to hold up lighting structure

Appendix 4.2. Net Present Value Equation.

$$NPV = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \frac{Profit_k - Cost_k}{(1+i)^k}$$

Appendix 5. Secondary physics-based models.

Appendix 5.1 COMSOL Velocity Profile.

A preliminary study of the fluid flow was implemented in COMSOL. This model has limitations, because it did not solve for two phase reacting flow, but rather as a laminar flow reaction. This therefore does not treat the bubble sparge as individual bubbles which slowly release CO_2 into the surrounding liquid using Henry's Law, as a more comprehensive model would. The simplification was made due to the lack of access to required modules and due to time limitations.

The sparge plate was modelled using inlet flows, shown in the screenshot below:



Select Laminar Flow Equations are built into the software, and are reported here:

$$\rho \frac{\partial \mathbf{u}}{\partial t} + \rho(\mathbf{u} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{u} = \nabla \cdot [-\rho \mathbf{I} + \mathbf{K}] + \mathbf{F}$$
$$\rho \nabla \cdot (\mathbf{u}) = 0$$
$$\mathbf{K} = \mu (\nabla \mathbf{u} + (\nabla \mathbf{u})^{\mathsf{T}})$$

The velocity profile of the sparge system at a steady state, neglecting effects of lighting framework are shown in the screenshot of the time-dependent study shown below. The model was implemented as a two dimensional axisymmetric system, neglecting the effects of the lighting structures on the fluid flow. This results in another obvious limitation to the study. A more comprehensive study of the fluid flow is suggested, using more accurate physical models (twophase reaction), and more accurate representations of the geometric interference. Furthermore, this study could examine the effect of scale up on the velocity profile and overall mixing of the system.

